



ROCK

Agricultural Extension and Advisory Services in Support of Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation: An Evidence Review

Enabling Farmers for Agricultural Transformation (EFAT) August 2024

Agricultural Extension and Advisory Services in Support of Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation: An Evidence Review

Copyright ©2024 Winrock International all rights reserved. Winrock International is a recognized leader in U.S. and international development, providing solutions to some of the world's most complex social, agricultural, and environmental challenges. Inspired by its namesake Winthrop Rockefeller, Winrock's mission is to empower the disadvantaged, increase economic opportunity and sustain natural resources. The information appearing in this publication may be freely quoted and reproduced provided the source is acknowledged. No use of this publication may be made for resale or other commercial purposes

Disclaimer: This report was made possible through the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). The contents do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government.

Author: Rasheed Sulaiman V

Photo credit: Winrock/EFAT

Table of Contents

Acronyms
Executive Summary5
1. Introduction
1.1 Climate Change, Agriculture and Rural Livelihoods7
1.2 Organization of the Report9
2. Methodology9
2.1 Conceptual Framework9
3. Current Status and Performance of EAS In Promoting Climate Change Adaptation
and Mitigation11
3.1 The Current Status of EAS11
3.2 EAS in Promoting Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation
3.3 Role of EAS in Specific Areas of Climate Action15
4. Functions Performed by EAS to Promote Climate Change Adaptation and
Mitigation: Evidence from Diverse Cases
4.1 Case 1: Climate Information Services in Rwanda24
4.2 Case 2: Promoting <i>in situ</i> Conservation of Indigenous Rice Varieties that can Withstand Climate Change in India
4.3 CASE 3: Carbon Sequestration Through Sustainable Agriculture Land Management In Kenya 26
4.4 CASE 4: PASTURE RESTORATION THROUGH ABC Cerrado Program in Brazil
4.5. Lessons
5. Discussion: Strengthening the Contribution of EAS to Climate Change Adaptation
and Mitigation
5.1 Greater Emphasis on mobilizing communities
5.2 Strengthen capacities for multistakeholder coordination
 5.2 Strengthen capacities for multistakeholder coordination
 5.2 Strengthen capacities for multistakeholder coordination
 5.2 Strengthen capacities for multistakeholder coordination
5.2 Strengthen capacities for multistakeholder coordination
5.2 Strengthen capacities for multistakeholder coordination 31 5.3 New roles, functions, and improved technical and functional capacities 32 5.4 Strengthening the enabling environment 33 5.5 Increased financial and human resources support for EAS 33 6. Conclusion and Recommendations 34 Glossary 36

Acronyms

ACRON	Agroforestry Carbon Removal Units for the Organic Restoration of Nature		
CBI	Community Based Intermediaries		
CCAFS	CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security		
CGIAR	Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research		
ССІММҮТ	International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center		
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide		
DGM	Dedicated Grant Mechanism		
EAS	Extension and Advisory Services		
FMNR	Farmer Managed Natural Regeneration		
GHG	Greenhouse Gas		
IITA	International Institute of Tropical Agriculture		
IRRI	International Rice Research Institute		
KACP	Kenya Agricultural Carbon Project		
LTAC	Local Technical Agro-climatic Committees		
NGOs	Non-Governmental Organizations		
PES	Payment for Ecosystem Services		
SALM	Sustainable Agricultural Land Management		
SCF	Seasonal Climate Forecast		
SMS	Short Message Service		
SRI	System of Rice Intensification		
USAID	United States Agency for International Development		
WISER	Weather and Climate Information Services for Africa		

Executive Summary

The effects of climate change on agriculture and food production are evident in regions around the world. Effective climate change adaptation and mitigation in the agricultural sector calls for multiple context specific, and at times complex, strategies. Promoting these strategies effectively involves changing the behavior, strategies and agricultural practices of millions of producers. Studies point to the current role agricultural extension and advisory services (EAS) provided by public, private and civil society organizations play in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation at scale and additional roles they could potentially play.

This evidence review aims to document the various roles and functions played by EAS in climate change adaptation and mitigation efforts. It also identifies challenges, as well as the capacities and support EAS need to effectively contribute to climate change adaptation and mitigation in agriculture. To do this, over 500 journal articles and other documents were reviewed and analyzed using the innovation management framework, which recognizes the wide range of roles and functions to be performed for innovation and impact at scale. The review identifies and describes eight roles played by EAS in climate change adaptation and mitigation:

- delivering climate advisory services,
- promoting seeds of stress-tolerant varieties of crops,
- promoting climate resilient value chains,
- supporting farmers to adopt alternative farming practices,
- promoting resource efficient technologies,
- supporting mitigation through market-based mechanisms,
- promoting agroforestry, and
- promoting social inclusion in climate action.

The review also identifies ten major functions played by EAS to promote climate change adaptation and mitigation. These include:

- creating awareness on adaptation and mitigation measures,
- demonstrating new technologies and practices,
- developing educational and training materials,
- organizing trainings and learning events,
- improving access to inputs,
- mobilizing communities for collective action,
- promoting digital decision support tools,
- supporting communities to secure community rights,
- stakeholder coordination, and
- policy advocacy.

However, low capacity means some of the roles and functions played by EAS are not performed effectively. While public sector EAS providers play an important role in areas that are primarily focused on adaptation, such as promoting stress tolerant varieties and alternative farming practices, EAS' contributions to promoting climate resilient value chains and other areas primarily focused on mitigation interventions such as agroforestry, improved technologies, and marketbased mitigation mechanisms, is more limited. This is due to the generally low level of funding for EAS, the lack of relevant mechanisms to ensure multistakeholder coordination, the limited technical and functional capacities to promote adaptation and mitigation efforts among EAS staff and a lack of explicit recognition of the contributions of EAS to enhancing climate resilience. This review recommends the following measures to enhance the contribution of EAS to climate change adaptation and mitigation:

- Include a climate focus in the goals of EAS: Explicit climate objectives are needed to draw attention to climate change adaptation and mitigation at both organizational- and individual-levels of EAS and to ensure that EAS providers and systems are fully accountable to achieving specific climate adaptation and mitigation targets.
- *Build the evidence on the contributions of EAS to climate actions:* To support an increased climate focus, there is a need to generate a more robust evidence-base on the contributions of EAS to climate change adaptation and mitigation, including agricultural practices that enhance climate resilience.
- *Explore new roles and functions for EAS*: To be able to effectively address the climate crisis, EAS in most countries need to undergo reforms to shift away from a technology transfer paradigm to a more demand-led approach that emphasizes co-creation with producers, use of effective communication and dissemination tools as well as effective mechanisms to coordinate multiple actors.
- Strengthen technical and functional capacities of EAS: EAS providers from public, private and civil society organizations need upgraded technical and functional capacities in different approaches to managing climate change (e.g. climate smart agriculture, agro-ecology, regenerative agriculture), in facilitating farmer experimentation and responding to the needs of women, youth, and other marginalized farmers, as well as in soft skills such as facilitation, multistakeholder coordination and brokerage.
- *Increase sustainable funding for EAS:* Both public and private EAS providers need finances to hire more local-level staff and to cover the operational expenses associated with organizing farmer training and demonstrations, adopting new innovative, including digital, approaches, and providing tools and training for their staff.
- *Create extension policies that emphasize the role of EAS for climate action*: Extension policies should explicitly outline the role of EAS in a country's development strategy broadly and their role in national climate adaptation and mitigation plans.
- *Recognize the contribution of EAS in national climate strategies and plans*: Explicit recognition of the contribution of EAS in achieving climate resilience and positioning these services as important actors that can support upscaling climate adaptation and mitigation technologies and strategies is critical for ensuring that EAS receive policy and financial support.
- *Direct climate funds to agriculture and EAS*: Climate initiatives in agriculture should explicitly fund public and private EAS to strengthen their abilities to contribute to adaptation and mitigation.

1.Introduction

1.1 CLIMATE CHANGE, AGRICULTURE AND RURAL LIVELIHOODS

Current food systems generate as much as 34% of the current total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions contributing to climate change (Crippa et al. 2021). The impacts of climate change – such as rising temperatures, longer droughts, more severe storms, warming oceans, and recurring floods and landslides - are decreasing agricultural productivity around the world and threatening global food security (IPCC 2022). The 2022 report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change on "Climate Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability" details how global warming has resulted in a 30% drop in productivity on the African continent alone since 1961 (IPCC 2022). Lowincome countries that are the most impacted by climate change have low adaptive capacities, which is contributing to food insecurity caused by reduced food production and food price increases (Georgieva et al. 2022). As climate change affects the frequency, intensity, and duration of extreme weather events, it alters precipitation patterns, disrupts ecological systems, and causes temperatures and sea levels to rise (IPCC 2021). These changes are devastating for smallholder farmers in low-income countries, particularly those who are reliant on rainfed farming and dependent on forests for their livelihoods. The fewer assets that a person or family has human, financial, natural, social, political, physical, etc. - the more challenging it is to cope with the changes necessary to adapt to climate change and longer it takes for them to recover from even modest shocks (Simpson et al. 2014). Climate change and its associated stressors negatively impact human development by disrupting livelihood systems, particularly those that mostly involve low-income women and youth, people with a high dependence on natural resources, who have weak social and financial safety nets and lack basic infrastructures (Duru et al. 2022; Government of Zimbabwe and UNDP 2017). The direct risks of climate change and the indirect impacts of climate-induced changes on natural resource systems are increasing the vulnerability of the rural poor, making it more likely that they will slide into an intractable cycle of poverty (Barbier and Hochard 2018).

While vulnerable to climate change, agriculture is also a major source of GHG emissions, both directly, through emissions from agricultural production, and indirectly, through land use changes resulting from agricultural expansion (OECD 2022). Accounting for roughly 30% of the world's total end-use energy consumption and 34% of global GHG emissions, agricultural activities largely remain dependent on diesel and grid electricity for core activities, such as irrigating fields and operating machinery (Crippa et al. 2021). Synthetic fertilizers derived from fossil fuels also contribute to emissions, through the production processes and from inappropriate application (Drugmand et al. 2022). Post-production activities, such as food storage, cooling, processing, and distribution, are also energy intensive. To strengthen the climate resilience of agriculture, a two-pronged approach that supports adaptation - adjusting to actual and expected future climate challenges – as well as promotes mitigation - reducing greenhouse gases and enhancing carbon sequestering - is needed. Sequestering carbon¹ will have mutual benefits for climate change

¹ Atmospheric carbon is sequestered in three ways: biologically, geologically, and technologically. Biological carbon sequestration includes soil, forests, and grasslands that can act as major carbon sinks. A carbon sink is a natural environment viewed in terms of its ability to absorb carbon dioxide from the atmosphere (CLEAR Center 2019).

adaptation and mitigation, food security, and as well as give the agricultural sector access to carbon markets.

Several approaches to fostering climate-smart² food systems are currently being promoted around the world including nature-based solutions, conservation agriculture, natural farming, and regenerative agriculture. Some of these approaches promote climate-adaptive agricultural technologies, agroforestry, more sustainable regenerative agroecological practices that conserve soil, water, biodiversity and the of use renewable resources. (Campbell 2022; Alvar-Beltrán et al. 2021). Many of these approaches also support mitigation by sequestering carbon and reducing emissions. Most countries have also invested in providing agro-meteorological advisories to farmers, including early warning systems to support adaptation. However, the adoption of these practices by small farmers varies considerably and several factors — socio-economic, biophysical, and institutional, including access to agricultural extension and advisory services (EAS) - influence adoption decisions (Diro, Tesfaye and Erko 2022; Musafiri et al. 2021).

Agricultural extension and advisory services (EAS) is an umbrella term that refers to organizations, individuals and activities that supply information and services required by farmers and other agricultural actors to develop their own technical, organizational, and managerial capacities for livelihoods and well-being improvement (Christoplos 2010). Public and private sector EAS are on the frontline in supporting smallholder farmers to adapt to the changing climate as they engage in field level activities and work closely with farmers to provide new technologies, technical information, knowledge, and skills, as well as linking them to other rural actors. EAS also work with policy makers and development program implementers to disseminate information about and put into practice new agricultural interventions, programs, and policies.

This evidence review examines existing literature to understand the roles and functions EAS play in supporting climate change adaptation and mitigation. The specific objectives of the evidence review are:

- 1. Identify, through a review of literature, the current state of support by EAS in helping smallholder farmers in low-income countries adapt to and mitigate climate change and promising advisory approaches used.
- 2. Document the preparedness of EAS organizations and individual providers to address climate change challenges.
- 3. Identify gaps that need to be addressed to develop climate-responsive EAS.
- 4. Identify policy issues that need to be addressed to facilitate EAS support for climate change adaptation and mitigation.

This review also examines selected cases in detail to draw operational lessons on how EAS is promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation. In this process, the review identifies gaps and proposes roles EAS could play in climate adaptation and mitigation, and what changes in policies and capacities are needed to support EAS to become more climate responsive. Earlier reviews on EAS and climate change focus on specialized areas, such as climate smart agriculture (Sulaiman, Chuluunbaatar and Vishnu 2018; David 2016) and climate adaptation (Simpson and

² Climate smart is an approach to making choices that promotes sustainability, resilience, and positive outcomes in the face of climate change-related challenges.

Burpee 2014). This review attempts to understand climate change adaptation and mitigation in greater detail and the roles and functions played by EAS in promoting both.

1.2 ORGANIZATION OF THE REPORT

This evidence review is organized into six sections. The following section provides a discussion on the methodology adopted for this study; section 3 reviews the current status and performance of EAS in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation and discusses eight specific roles played by EAS in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation. Section 4 presents four cases that illustrate various functions performed by EAS in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation. Section 5 discusses how to strengthen the contributions of EAS in supporting adaptation and mitigation by drawing lessons from the different examples and cases discussed in the previous section. The report ends with conclusions and a broad set of recommendations in section 6.

2. Methodology

In order to produce this evidence review, over 500 documents, mainly peer- reviewed journal articles and grey literature, were examined between May and August 2023. Web search engines -Google search, Google scholar, Web of Science, etc. - were utilized to collect the reviewed materials using keywords including agricultural extension, advisory services, rural advisory services and climate change adaptation, climate change mitigation, climate smart agriculture, rural advisory services approaches and climate change and carbon farming.

This evidence review has several limitations, including:

- Limited attention to climate change adaptation and mitigation in the livestock, fisheries, and forestry sectors due to the paucity of documents found on these topics.
- Due to the lack of evidence, limited documentation of the contribution of EAS to climate change adaptation and mitigation.
- A greater focus on climate finance directed towards climate change mitigation as opposed to adaptation.

2.1 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

This evidence review used the Innovation Management Framework (Sulaiman et al. 2010) to examine the role of EAS in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation. This framework argues that innovation involves a wide range of functions, activities, and tools that are delivered by several agencies operating through platforms, alliances, or partnerships, and whose work can be collectively referred to as "innovation management." While facilitating access to new knowledge, it is important to equally promote innovation, innovation being the process of generating, adapting, diffusing, and using new knowledge at scale to achieve wider developmental impact. This is because the true value of knowledge is only achievable when it is combined with other elements of the innovation management process, such as building networks, organizing producers, communicating research needs, conflict mediation, facilitating access to credit, inputs and output services, convening innovation platforms, advocacy for policy change, and negotiations and agreements leading to other changes in practice and action (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Innovation Management (Source: Sulaiman et al. 2010)

Several studies that have looked at the innovation process (Klerkx, van Mierlo and Leeuwis 2012; Glover et al. 2019; World Bank 2012), including scaling of new knowledge (Schut, Leeuwis and Thiele 2020; Hall and Dijkman 2019; Glover, Venot and Maat 2017), recognize the role of different agents and their interactions in promoting technological change. EAS are an important intermediary in the innovation process; they promote interactions and knowledge flows among many of these actors in the agricultural innovation system, as well as help in achieving the scaling of new knowledge (Blum, Cofini and Sulaiman 2020; Sulaiman, Chuluunbaatar and Vishnu 2018; Sulaiman and Davis 2012). However, this means EAS must perform a broad range of functions in partnership with other actors in the agricultural innovation system to bring about technical, institutional, and policy-level changes to create an enabling environment for innovation.

The Innovation Management Framework recognizes the importance of collaboration among multiple actors as well as the need for a broad range of functions and the deployment of appropriate tools to upscale new knowledge. The adoption of practices that support climate change adaptation and mitigation are more complex and often go beyond the adoption of a single practice or technology by individual farmers. Moreover, addressing climate change challenges necessitates engaging with multiple stakeholders to reconcile climate, conservation, and development objectives (Reed et al. 2019) and calls for new and different forms of interactions,

partnerships and collaborations between multiple actors. In conclusion, this review used the Innovation Management Framework to explore the role of EAS in supporting climate resilience and identifying the functions it is performing to play these roles.

3. Current Status and Performance of EAS In Promoting Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

3.1 THE CURRENT STATUS OF EAS

EAS consists of organizations and individuals from the public and private sectors and civil society. At field level, EAS providers include extension agents, agronomists, advisors, knowledge intermediaries, agro-dealers, and community-based or farmer extensionists. These providers deliver a range of services and technical, organizational, entrepreneurial, and managerial support to producers, other agricultural value chain actors and rural communities. Although EAS have become increasingly pluralistic, in most countries, public- and donor-supported EAS initiatives remain the primary sources of advice for smallholder farmers and farmers outside of organized supply chains (ISF Advisors 2020). A 2022 study found functional public EAS systems in 55 out of the 80 countries examined, providing essential public EAS services to 450 million farmers (Yang and Ou 2022).

However, public EAS are generally under-funded (Yang and Ou 2022) and face significant challenges, including limited capacity to respond to new challenges and low reach. While public sector EAS are typically present across the landscape of a country, most private and civil society EAS providers, including NGOs, concentrate in target locations and reach only the farmers in those regions or those that meet specific criteria. In some cases, agri-businesses work only with producers that supply their produce or those using the inputs they sell, and they often target larger producers who can provide a consistent supply of high value crops. There is an increasing interest among donors to invest in pluralistic EAS (Nyathi and Even 2022; Blum, Cofini and Sulaiman 2020; Zhou and Babu 2015), but for pluralistic EAS to work, an improved overall framework in which multiple actors can operate and coordinate their activities is needed (Davis, Babu and Ragasa 2020). The pluralistic extension systems currently found in most countries are often characterized by providers (particularly from the public sector) that have inadequate financial resources and lack personnel with the necessary knowledge and skills to address changing demands, are implemented through short-term projects and lack coordination between providers (David 2016). In addition, there is overwhelming evidence that shows women, young farmers, the poorest producers, and those living in remote areas have disproportionately less access to and benefit less from EAS (FAO 2022; Katz 2018; Petrics et al. 2015).

3.2 EAS IN PROMOTING CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION AND MITIGATION

Effective climate change adaptation and mitigation for global agriculture calls for multiple strategies that are context specific and, at times, complex (Autio et al. 2021; Malhi, Kaur and Kaushik 2021). These strategies encompass various approaches, ranging from promoting the adoption of knowledge intensive technologies or practices to the delivery of climate information services (Aryal, Sapkota, et al. 2018) (Figure 2, Table 1).

Climate Resilience

MITIGATION

Actions that reduce our emissions and transition to net zero

Examples

Sustainable transportation Clean energy Energy efficiency in buildings and infrastructure Waste reduction Water conservation New food systems Sustainable cities New energy systems Urban & rural forests Community Education Working with nature

ADAPTATION

Actions that reduce the Impacts of climate change and maximize the opportunities

Examples

Disaster management Flood protection Planning to reduce exposure Infrastructure upgrades Monitoring hazards and risks

Figure 2: Actions contributing to climate change mitigation and adaptation Adapted from Khan, Rashid and Koç (2023).

Over time, new and improved strategies continue to emerge, but smallholder farmers often lack the resources, knowledge, and capacity to understand and then implement these strategies effectively (Ndhlovu and Mhlanga 2023; Kuhl 2020; Antwi-Agyei, Dougill and Stringer 2014). Consequently, they bear a substantial burden when it comes to coping with the challenges posed by climate change (Mizik 2021; Nyiwul 2021). In this context, the roles EAS play to support farmers is crucial for promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies at scale and impacting the behaviors, strategies, and practices of millions of agricultural producers (Table 2). **Table 1:** Climate change adaptation and mitigation approaches/methods and their role in addressing climate change.

Approach/ Method	Focus	Role in Climate Change
Climate Smart Agriculture	Climate change	An exclusive approach designed to combat climate change (both adaptation and mitigation)
Climate Resilient Agriculture	Climate change	An exclusive approach designed to combat climate change (both adaptation and mitigation)
Natural Farming	Environment	Reduces or eliminates use of chemical fertilizers, thereby reducing emissions from agriculture. Use of mulching and organic manures to maintain soil fertility.
Regenerative Agriculture	Environment, biodiversity, and climate change	By adopting minimum or no tillage, this approach promotes carbon sequestration
Organic Agriculture	Environment and health	Relies on ecological processes, biodiversity and cycles adapted to local conditions, rather than the use of inputs with adverse effects. Minimizes energy consumption and use of chemicals
Conservation Agriculture	Soil	Conservation Agriculture mitigates climate change by reducing greenhouse gas emissions and sequestering carbon through its practices.
Biodynamics	Environment and spirituality	It is a form of organic farming with a feeling of spirituality and cosmos. Climate change mitigation and adaptation is as similar as in organic agriculture.
Agroforestry	Land-use and multi- purpose	Climate mitigation by sequestering carbon in biomass and soils, reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and avoiding emissions through reduced fossil fuel and energy use on farms. Climate adaptation through windbreaks, conserving soil and reducing crop transpiration rates.
Permaculture	Environmental stability	Aims to maintain agriculturally productive ecosystems which have the diversity, stability, and resilience of natural ecosystems.
Precision Agriculture	Energy and resource efficiency	Targeted application of inputs leading to reduction in their use and (together with GHG emissions) helping mitigation.
Agroecology	Environment and equity	An integrated approach that simultaneously applies ecological and social concepts and principles to the design and management of sustainable agriculture and food systems. Promotes low use of external inputs, as well as biodiversity and organic recycling.

Effective pluralistic EAS also requires organizational changes among public and private service provider agencies to create an enabling environment for facilitating climate change adaptation and mitigation for farmers. Research shows that institutional policy changes made by pluralistic EAS providers constitute crucial elements in climate adaptation strategies (Mazhar et al. 2021; Raj and Garlapati 2020; Sardar, Kiani and Kuslu 2021). Several studies have found that EAS is an indispensable component in scaling up climate smart technologies (Tanti et al. 2022; Emmanuel et al. 2016), practices (Aryal et al. 2018; Sulaiman 2017), and strategies (Jha and Gupta 2021; Zikhali et al. 2021; Ranjbar et al. 2019; Mardy et al. 2018). Extension agents often also play a role in facilitating networking and bringing together multiple stakeholders, creating opportunities for

climate adaptation and mitigation strategies to be systematized (Gannon et al. 2021; Acosta et al. 2019; Partey et al. 2018).

Adaptation	Mitigation
 Organizing training, clinics, demonstrations, and field schools/days for farmers and promoting climate-smart technologies and practices, strengthen capacity, and provide guidance and climate information (Smith et al. 2022; Siregar and Crane 2011; Carr and Onzere 2018) Distributing new technologies and inputs as part of schemes that promote adaptation (Ozkan, Dube and Reed 2022; Dar et al. 2021; Haworth et al. 2018; Buah, Nyuor and Hashim 2017) Assessing the vulnerability of distinct types of farmers and developing adaptation plans (Kamruzzaman et al. 2020) Linking farmers to crop insurance (Akter et al. 2016) 	 Promoting climate smart, resource efficient technologies and practices that reduce methane emissions, for example direct seeded rice and promoting solar pumps (Elahi, Khalid and Zhang 2022; Enriquez et al. 2021) Strengthening farmer groups and linking them to voluntary carbon markets (Martinez et al. 2022) Promoting payment for ecosystem services (Haile, Tirivayi and Tesfaye 2019) Promoting agroforestry (Baig, Burgess and Fike 2021)

Table 2: Summary of the roles EAS plays in climate change adaptation and mitigation.

Existing literature shows that EAS play a role in enhancing the capacity of farmers to address the effects of climate change (Maka, Ighodaro and Ngcobo-Ngotho 2019; Rickards et al. 2018). Trainings provided by extension agents have been found to have a significant impact on raising awareness (de Janvry, Macours and Sadoulet 2016) and increasing adoption of climate risk management strategies (Bairagi, Mishra and Durand-Morat 2020), and climate smart agricultural practices (Zakaria et al. 2020; Mulwa et al. 2017). EAS also play a crucial role in supporting women, youth, indigenous communities and other groups marginalized from accessing agricultural resources and opportunities to adapt to climate change (Dibon 2021; Bullock et al. 2020; Lawson et al. 2020; Mcleod et al. 2019; Pearl-Martinez 2017; Mapfumo, Mtambanengwe and Chikowo 2016)).

Access to climate information services has proven to be core to climate adaptation strategies among smallholder farmers (Koseo and Ahmed 2022). Several studies indicate a positive influence made by climate information services, including digital extension, on climate change adaptation and mitigation (Andati et al. 2022; Mahmood et al. 2021; Saifan et al. 2021; Partey et al. 2020; Diouf et al. 2019; Ouedraogo et al. 2018). EAS add value to the climate information they provide by helping farmers understanding how climate change can impact them and how to respond to these changes.

Challenges for EAS in Promoting Climate Adaptation and Mitigation

Even though governments and NGOs incorporate aspects of climate adaptation into their extension and advisory services, in most cases it is not a prioritized goal (ISF Advisors 2020). EAS have relatively limited involvement in climate change adaptation and mitigation efforts at a

formal, institutional level, and there are few national providers that have initiated specific climate change programming (Simpson and Burpee 2014). In most cases, EAS are focused on promoting technology packages and general recommendations, highlighting a need for improved capacity to facilitate farmer decision-making and problem-solving (David 2016). At the same time, EAS providers also need improved functional capacities and soft skills in communications, facilitation, co-learning, and innovation brokering in order to meaningfully assist farmers to adapt to climate change and contribute to mitigation (David 2016; Sulaiman V. and Davis 2012; Klerkx, Hall and Leeuwis 2009).

EAS personnel need to be well-informed about the climate change risks that farmers currently and will face in future and should have the skills and capacities to identify and promote appropriate interventions. Special attention must be paid by EAS providers to the unique challenges experienced by women and other marginalized groups who are disproportionately impacted by climate change (El-Fattal 2012).

Considering the ever-evolving impacts of climate change, EAS providers also need to develop a long-term vision for their approach to climate change adaptation in the agricultural sector and need expertise in evaluating alternative scenarios through participatory scenario development and visioning exercises (Palazzo et al. 2016) to prioritize investments, contribute to policy formulation, and learn from policy and program implementation (Lamboll, Nelson and Nathaniels 2011).

3.3 ROLE OF EAS IN SPECIFIC AREAS OF CLIMATE ACTION

An analysis of over 200 documents on experiences from Africa, Asia, and Latin America reveals that worldwide, EAS support climate change adaptation and mitigation in specific ways, as discussed below. However, it should be noted that the documents reviewed provide limited evidence on how EAS contribute directly to climate change adaptation and mitigation.

Promoting Stress-Tolerant Crop Varieties

In response to increased temperatures and changing rainfall patterns leading to droughts, flooding, and increased soil salinity, agricultural researchers have identified and developed crop varieties that can better tolerate current and future adverse climatic conditions. EAS' role in promoting the adoption of new crop varieties cannot be overstated.

One example is the role played by EAS in promoting drought tolerant maize in sub-Saharan Africa. Between 2007 and 2013, the Drought Tolerant Maize in Africa project released 160 droughttolerant maize varieties (Fisher et al. 2015). The International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT) and the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA) collaborated with public and private entities in several countries, including public sector extension agencies, NGOs, radio stations and innovation platforms, to address the challenges involved in technology development, assessment, and promotion. In Ghana, access to EAS was a key factor in farmers' adoption of drought tolerant maize in addition to access to seed, labor availability, and location of farm households (Martey, Etwire and Kuwornu 2020). In Malawi, government extension agents introduced the seeds of drought tolerant maize through farmer-managed demonstration plots (CIMMYT 2012; Kassie et al. 2012). By linking with the country's Agricultural Input Subsidy Program, the Innovation Learning Platform led by the Ministry of Agriculture and Food Security enabled more farmers to access a drought tolerant maize variety and grow it in six of the most drought-prone districts of Malawi, contributing to improved food security for thousands of farming households.

Similarly, the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), in partnership with national agricultural research systems, developed and promoted several stress-tolerant rice varieties that can better tolerate drought, submergence, and salinity. In Odisha, India, the International Rice Research Institute and the state's Department of Agriculture and Farmer Empowerment organized demonstrations and trials of stress-tolerant rice varieties under its 'evidence hubs' in farmer fields and facilitated farmers, EAS providers and other value chain actors to evaluate the performance of these varieties (Mittal et al. 2018). To ensure adequate availability of quality seeds of these varieties, trainings on seed production were organized and women seed producer groups mobilized to produce and market certified seed through farmer producer companies (Puskur, Variar and Saksena 2021). As a result of training-of-trainer activities for EAS providers in 2019, a total of 132 master trainers were trained, who further facilitated community-level seed production training programs for 4,007 farmers, 35% being women (Puskur, Variar and Saksena 2021).

Supporting Farmers to Adopt Alternative Farming Practices

There is growing evidence that promoting single technologies or encouraging change in only one practice at the farm-level is not sufficient for long-term climate change adaptation or mitigation. Approaches that have emerged in the last two decades, including regenerative agriculture, conservation agriculture, and nature-based solutions, promise more holistic, integrated, sustainable, and climate-resilient farming practices. EAS in many countries play a critical role in promoting and supporting farmers to adopt these approaches. For instance, in India, the National Institute of Agricultural Extension Management sensitized public decision makers on techniques and benefits of 'natural farming' as a way of involving more farmers and expanding reach (Government of India 2023). As a result, materials in 22 regional languages were prepared and 997 trainings were conducted on natural farming, creating 697 master trainers (Government of India 2023).

Systems of Rice Intensification (SRI), a rice cultivation package that reduces 64% of methane emissions associated with rice farming, is practiced by 15 million smallholder farmers in about 60 countries (Phu, Linh, and Tra 2021; Jain et al. 2013). In most cases, SRI increases rice production and improves farmer resilience against droughts, storms, and extreme weather. In Vietnam, EAS promoted SRI through farmer field schools, and workshops that encouraged farmers to test, evaluate, and adopt SRI (Asian Institute of Technology 2017). Evidence-based advocacy efforts to promote SRI also resulted in the government's recognition of SRI as a technical advancement in rice production, which led to an increase in public investment (Sulaiman V, Chuluunbaatar and Vishnu 2018).

Another alternative farming practice that is helping smallholder farmers to adapt to climate change is floating gardens in Bangladesh. While NGOs and civil society organizations first promoted floating gardens, focusing on strengthening the social capital of the farmers and providing micro-credit, the country's public extension services played a major role by promoting it through the National Adaptation Program for Action, a country-wide program that encompasses the immediate and urgent adaptation activities to address the current and anticipated adverse effects of climate change through technology transfer and capacity building (Sales 2019; Irfanullah et al. 2011).

Conservation agriculture promotes minimum soil disturbance and a permanent soil cover, thereby contributing to a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions. In Zambia, EAS have played several important roles in scaling up conservation agricultural. The Zambian Agricultural Research Institute worked closely with the Kasisi Agricultural Training Centre to conduct extensive trials and test various practices such as enhanced fallow systems, efficient tillage practices, and the utilization of mechanical and animal-powered, low-till equipment tailored to diverse agroclimatic and socio-economic conditions (Abdulai and Abdulai 2016). Multiple stakeholders utilized the farmer-to-farmer extension model for information dissemination and organized demonstrations, radio broadcasts, on-farm trials, field events, and training sessions to promote conservation agriculture (Chompolola and Kaonga 2016; Haggblade and Tembo 2003). A study in Malawi found that EAS played a key role in scaling up conservation agriculture and concluded that the farmer-to-farmer extension model complemented the activities of the country's formal extension system (Fisher et al. 2018).

Farmer Managed Natural Regeneration (FMNR) has emerged as a progressive approach to combating desertification and promoting sustainable land management, contributing significantly to climate change adaptation and mitigation efforts. This innovative method entails the careful pruning and safeguarding of naturally occurring tree and shrub species, enabling them to regenerate and flourish (Kuyah et al. 2023). World Vision promoted FMNR in 27 countries worldwide by deploying several strategies involving EAS (Rinaudo, Muller, and Morris 2019). These include establishing national re-greening committees; organizing awareness workshops, exchange visits, demonstration plots and conferences, and disseminating information products such as written materials, video clips, and presentations (Birch et al. 2016).

Similarly, the success of FMNR In Ethiopia (Reij, Tappan and Smale 2009) and Ghana (Weston et al. 2015) is attributed to multiple extension and advisory strategies, including securing legally binding forest user rights from the government, organizing community members into cooperatives, allocating forest areas to cooperatives, training farmers on forest management, record keeping and leadership, and fostering community ownership of, and responsibility for, implementing the management plan and upholding agreed by-laws. In this way, EAS supported farmers to become experimenters and innovators to find context-specific solutions and promote a farmer-to-farmer extension model to disseminate the innovations to more farmers.

Promoting Climate-Resilient Value Chains

Value chain interventions are important for building sustainable food systems that meet increasing demands while remaining profitable in the face of climate change (World Economic Forum 2016). In many countries over the last few years, private sector agribusiness firms have started increasing their involvement in entire value chains, often motivated by the need to comply with sustainability commitments and certification, or demands from consumers, and they view EAS as a mechanism for managing climate impacts (ISF Advisors 2020).

In Uganda, the private sector played a significant role in value chain development of rice for climate change adaptation. A study on the project 'Private Sector Investment in a Changing Climate: Resilient Rice Value Chain Development' (PSI-Climate) found that financial services provided by the Uganda Commercial Bank, coupled with access to climate-resilient rice varieties, were key factors in climate risk management by actors involved in the Ugandan rice value chain

(Dekens and Daze 2016a). The company provided extension services by disseminating information and training farmers on agronomic practice (Dekens and Daze 2016b).

In Kenya and Ethiopia, TechnoServe and the Nespresso AAA Sustainable Quality program has built the capacity of hundreds of coffee wet mills and thousands of coffee farmers to improve quality, sustainability, and productivity since 2013 (Biswas-Tortajada and Biswas 2015). At farm-level, the program used different extension and advisory methods and approaches including on-farm training through the AAA Academy on agronomic practices such as composting and rejuvenation of coffee trees and key business skills. To improve wet mill operations, TechnoServe provided trainings to improve compliance with TASQ Core Criteria – a set of indices that assess adherence to specific social, environmental, quality, and economic standards, such as minimum wage and the disposal of waste products (Baptista and Jenkins 2017). TechnoServe also works to improve the sustainability of the cocoa value chain in Peru by disseminating information to smallholder farmers through small demonstration plots and training on the productivity-enhancing "Synchronized Fertilization and Pruning Technique" (TechnoServe 2015). Other approaches used to strengthen the program include using cooperatives and producer organizations as additional delivery networks for follow-up technical assistance, improving the trainer-to-smallholder ratio, and increasing the participation of female smallholders. TechnoServe also connected strengthened producer organizations with social lenders that can provide financing for direct export of their products.

Touton, a major cocoa buyer in Ghana, has been working with farmers in 10 districts of the country's High Forest Zone since 2014 (IDH 2018). Touton implements a seven-pillar service delivery model for farmers, providing a variety of support activities through Rural Service Centers that help farmers produce better quality cocoa in greater quantities. The services provided include access to agro-inputs and integrated agro-services, including training and individual coaching on cocoa rehabilitation, productivity, and intensification. The model also includes providing access to finance, livelihood diversification, food security, and landscape governance to fully achieve climate-smart outcomes (IITA, CCAFS, SFL, Root Capital 2018). While data are not available on the broader impact of the program, a study from Ghana reported that the uptake of shade tree planting³ was more prevalent among farmers who received Touton's agricultural extension services (Maguire-Rajpaul, Khatun and Hirons 2020).

Ecom Ghana and Cargill in Côte d'Ivoire are two private sector actors that also utilize EAS to enhance climate change mitigation in the cocoa value chain. Through smallholder development centers, Ecom Ghana provides smallholder farmers with training on good agricultural practices, manages nurseries, and runs demonstration farms. Ecom Ghana sources its cocoa from the farmers receiving its services, thereby strengthening the traceability and sustainability of Ecom's supply chain. In addition, Ecom Ghana builds boreholes and village resource centers for educational services (Kroeger et al. 2017).

In Côte d'Ivoire, Cargill works with input suppliers to sell subsidized input packages to smallholder farmers and cooperative groups and trains government extension services. Cargill sets aside a portion of its cocoa sale proceeds to pay input suppliers in cases where a farmer client defaults on paying for inputs (Kroeger et al. 2017).

³ Shade tree planting is a climate-smart agroforestry technique in which cocoa is grown under the shade of larger trees.

In 2011, Olam, a large, global agribusiness company, partnered with the Rainforest Alliance to start the "Climate Cocoa Partnership for Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries" project in Ghana. The focus of the project was to reduce deforestation and promote sustainable cocoa production in forested areas by increasing the resilience of forest lands in the face of climate change (Brasser 2013). Under this partnership, farmers were trained for certification by the Sustainable Agriculture Network standard, which helps farmers earn more from high quality cocoa and promotes intercropping and maintaining carbon stocks as a supplementary income source. In 2018, Olam started working with the UK funded Partnerships for Forests and Rainforest Alliance to restore the Sui River Forest Reserve in Ghana. By the end of 2021, ten thousand cocoa farmers were trained in climate-smart agricultural practices to help them improve their yields whilst lowering their environmental impact. To help farmers access seedlings, the project established four community cocoa nurseries, which, by 2021, had supplied over 176,000 seedlings (OFI 2021).

Delivering Climate Advisory Services

Smallholder farmers are concerned more about climate than other risks associated with farming (The Nudge Institute 2022). Farmers' climate change awareness, combined with an accurate perception of climate change, are a preliminary step to improving their ability to mitigate the effects on farming activities and increase their adaptive capacity (Akano et al. 2022; Sen et al. 2021). Public and private sector EAS providers in many countries deliver climate advisory services informed by climate-related information that assists individuals and organizations to make climate-responsive decisions.

There are two types of climate information users: intermediary users and end users. Intermediary users receive climate information from the source and tailor it for end users to utilize in their decision making. In the case of agriculture, researchers and extension personnel working in the public sector as well as private EAS providers are often the intermediary users, who convert climate information based on the context of a region and share it with EAS providers and farmers.

In India, public sector EAS providers are at the forefront of delivering climate advisory services to farmers. The India Meteorological Department delivers "Agromet Advisories" prepared by Agromet Field Units and District Agromet Units based on medium-range weather forecasts (Gopalakrishnan and Subramanian 2020). Agromet Advisories are disseminated to farmers twice a week through multiple channels, including print and electronic media, national TV, radio, internet, text messages, and a farmer's portal. Presently, around 43 million farmers are directly benefiting from climate advisory services through SMS in multiple languages. Farmers make use of these services for planning operations in the face of extreme weather, such as when to sow seeds, irrigate, apply fertilizer and pesticide, and harvest crops. Regular agrometeorological information is provided twice a day through the state-owned television system. In 2020, experimental block-level⁴ advisory information was issued twice a week for about 2,200 blocks and communicated to farmers and other users through social media and the extension mechanism of the State Department of Agriculture (IMD 2020).

One of the key activities for scaling climate services involves working with and developing the capacity of extension officers, farmers, and the media to bridge the gap between experts and

⁴ A block, also known as a Panchayat Samiti, is an intermediate level local government body in rural parts of India.

farming communities. In Mali, the National Meteorological Agency established and strengthened a group of 30 farmers through whom climate information is shared daily. Each farmer is required to then reach out to 30 other farmers, creating an effective network for spreading critical climate information (Dossou-Yovo et al. 2022). In South Africa, community members and local EAS providers contribute to a local early warning system through monitoring, providing local knowledge, and tailoring climate information to the local context (Andersson et al. 2020). In Colombia, Local Technical Agro-climatic Committees (LTACs) involve local stakeholders, farmers, the private sector, research organizations, and government institutions in discussions on how best to manage crops and farms in a specific location at a specific moment in time (Loboguerrero et al. 2018). The basic premise behind the LTAC approach is: if farmers and the local rural community at large can access and understand weather and climate forecasts and its effects on their crop production, processing, and marketing options under local conditions, then they can make better decisions on how to manage their farms and businesses. LTACs actively publicize their findings through bulletins, social networks, extension services, farmers organizations, radio, TV, and the press.

Challenges with downscaling, increasing the accuracy of weather forecasting, and ensuring timely delivery impact the effective use of climate services by EAS providers and farmers alike (Stigter 2011). Improving the farmer to extension provider ratio would facilitate a better flow of climate information to farmers, especially to those who cannot afford information technology devices (Owusu et al. 2021). Moreover, female farmers have disproportionately less access to climate services, resources, and information to manage risks and make livelihood changes due to gendered divisions of labor, resource control, and decision-making power (Gumucio et al. 2020a).

Supporting Mitigation Through Market-Based Mechanisms

Carbon markets are trading systems in which carbon credits are sold and bought. A large number of institutions are needed to support carbon sequestration efforts, including market mechanisms that support trade in emissions credits, groups that provide insurance against sequestration shortfalls, brokers who aggregate individual carbon contributions to facilitate trades and offer risk reducing sequestration portfolios, organizations and procedures to document and certify emissions reductions, and educational programs that provide training and facilitate adoption of more complicated strategies (Marland, McCarl and Schneider 2001). In general, carbon credit markets are still evolving, however, they have already proven to be a pragmatic approach to supporting community-based tree planting programs (Rodrigo and Munasinghe 2023; Lokuge and Anders 2022). Smallholder farmers typically prefer agroforestry systems that allow a net fixing of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂), while also meeting their socio-economic needs. EAS providers could assist in bundling eligible lands for carbon trading (i.e. over 2,000 hectares), monitoring land lots, and identifying the changing needs of farmers that can be addressed through monetary gains from carbon credits. However, in general, capacity building is needed for EAS providers to play an effective role in educating farmers on carbon trading. At the same time, the policy environment in many low- and middle-income countries is not conducive to supporting small farmers to access carbon markets (Tamba et al. 2021).

Payments for ecosystem services (PES) schemes are another market-based mechanism that contributes to climate change mitigation. Relying on incentives to induce behavior change, PES schemes can be classified in three broad types: public payment schemes, private payment schemes, and public-private payment schemes (Smith et al. 2013). In general, apart from sellers,

who are land and resource owners, or managers, who can provide beneficial services, PES programs need a buyer who is willing to pay for these services, intermediaries who link buyers and sellers and support implementation, as well as knowledge providers who are experts on PES (Smith et al. 2013). EAS often plays the role of intermediaries, and in some cases knowledge providers. Government agencies, NGOs, international agencies, local organizations, and professional consulting firms can also serve as intermediaries, providing services and information and functioning as mediators, arbitrators, equalizers, representatives, watchdogs, developers of standards, and bridge builders (Pham et al. 2010). Concerns have been raised about the quality of the participatory work by intermediaries, the political influence on their activities, and the need to maintain a neutral status. There is also a general need for increased capacity by all actors (sellers, intermediaries and knowledge providers) to monitor environmental services and enforce contracts (Pham et al. 2010).

Promoting Resource-Efficient Technologies

The use of energy-, water-, and fertilizer-saving technologies are helpful in climate change mitigation, and EAS play an important role in the promotion and scaling up of such technologies. In the Philippines, PhilRice and the National Irrigation Administration jointly initiated various research and dissemination activities to promote alternate wetting and drying practices, a water saving technology that aids farmers adapt to extreme weather conditions and mitigate GHG emissions. Activities implemented in collaboration with local partners in many parts of the country included farmer-participatory trials, demonstrations, and farmer field schools (Palis et al. 2017; Rejesus, Martin and Gypmantasiri 2014). In India, Jain Irrigation Systems Limited, a private company, has been implementing an integrated extension model that incorporates a research-development-demonstration approach to promote drip irrigation, a water saving technology (Soman 2020). The company's extension department conducts demonstrations, creates knowledge products, and organizes seminars, exhibitions, and campaigns. It also ensures direct outreach to farmers by deploying field agronomists who regularly visit individual farmers, providing crucial last mile support.

Promoting organic agriculture is also often a priority for EAS. In many countries, having access to EAS has a positive influence on farmers' willingness to use organic inputs and techniques (Qiao et al. 2022; Abebe and Debebe 2019). Organic farmers in Thailand obtained knowledge on organic agriculture techniques and skills primarily from NGOs, with approximately 81% of the farmers surveyed having attended more than ten training programs and 14% having participated in three to five training courses within the last three years. Those surveyed indicated that knowledge of organic farming obtained through observations, analysis of the field situation and problems, and the exchange of experiences was the major factor that convinced them to explore organic farming. The farmers then adapted this knowledge to their farms, a process that enhanced not only their self-reliance, but also the production of organic commodities (Pattanapant and Shivakoti 2009).

Promoting Agroforestry

On Java Island, Indonesia, 1.5 million smallholder farmers manage 444,000 hectares of teak agroforestry systems. Field demonstrations combined with farmer trainings and relevant extension materials helped these farmers gain an understanding of effective silvicultural management (Roshetko et al. 2013). Government extension providers implementing agroforestry farmer field school were employed to focus on five major commodities: clove, pepper, coffee, cacao, and durian. To achieve scale, researcher-to-farmer and farmer-to-farmer learning approaches were used, as well as cross-learning visits and demonstration plots (Martini 2013).

Through its "Agroforestry Carbon Removal Units for the Organic Restoration of Nature" (ACORN) initiative, Rabobank focusses on supporting smallholder farmers around the world to transition to agroforestry practices and carbon sequestration activities. ACORN works with local partners that have direct relationships with farmers as well as the capacity to work with a large group of producers (Rabobank 2022). These include NGOs, farmer cooperatives, trading companies, and governments. Local partners involved in extension provision assist with project design, the selection of plant species, and the logistics of procuring seedlings and saplings as well as arranging funds to get farmers started with agroforestry. In 2023, 108,000 farmers around the world were transitioning to agroforestry systems and combating climate change through the ACORN initiative (Rabobank 202)

Promoting Social Inclusion in Climate Action

Women smallholder producers, Indigenous peoples, resource-poor farmers, and other marginalized groups are more vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. As original stewards of natural resources, many Indigenous communities rely heavily on natural products and processes that are changing and less available as a result of extreme weather conditions brought on by the climate crisis (Sardar and Bhaguri 2022). Unequal access to land, labor, and capital, a lack of agency to make household and economic decisions, gendered divisions of labor, and the feminization of agriculture in many low-income countries as a result of climate migration, makes women more vulnerable to climate change and less able to implement adaptation strategies (Katz 2018). Moreover, the impacts of the climate crisis on poverty levels and food insecurity exacerbates social inequalities, resulting in higher male migration, greater health risks for women and increased levels of gender-based violence (Awiti 2022; Katz 2018). However, it is also clear that groups most marginalized by climate change can serve as catalysts for change in both mitigation and adaptation efforts. Indigenous people play a key role in protecting and managing forests and are key agents in climate action (Schlingmann et al. 2021). Women's unique knowledge of agriculture and natural resource management is essential for ensuring the effectiveness and sustainability of climate change adaptation and risk reduction efforts.

The Female Extension Volunteer (FEVs) program implemented by ActionAid in Ghana uses farmerled extension as a way of bridging the gender gap in extension (Binado 2018). The focus of the FEVs is to promote agroecology and support smallholder farmers' transition to climate-resilient sustainable agriculture through field demonstrations and farmer field schools. FEVs, female farmers trained in agroecology practices and basic extension delivery, function as EAS providers and work with public extension agents to connect women farmers to government support for agroecology through advocacy. Government agriculture extension agents and ActionAid provide support with simple tools and coordination to enhance their work.

Community seed banks are an effective strategy for climate resilience and adaptation (Porcuna Ferrer 2018; Gómez 2017). In tribal areas of Odisha, India, women are at the forefront of seed exchange of indigenous crop varieties, many of which can withstand adverse climatic conditions. Local civil society organizations, individual seed champions, and Indigenous farmer groups are playing a crucial role in promoting the conservation of heirloom varieties (Panda and Palita 2021). These seeds are freely shared, often facilitated by individual seed champions, seed conservationist groups, and local civil society organizations. These civil society organizations have supported the documentation of the varieties, provided training to farmers on seed quality and storage, and supported the creation of seed fairs, where farmers can exchange and discuss seed varieties with other farmers. Extension officers of Odisha's Department of Agriculture have also collected these varieties from farmers and shared them with the state seed testing laboratory for validation and further distribution (Ciarli et al. 2022).

In response to women's limited access to seeds of stress-tolerant rice varieties in Bangladesh, the International Rice Research Institute, in collaboration with a local NGO and several agencies of the Government of Bangladesh, including the Seed Certification Agency, promoted the communitybased rice seed entrepreneurship model (Nuruzzaman et al. 2023). Under this model, women took part in seed production groups, trainings, demonstrations, and exposure visits to help them understand quality seed production, seed processing, storage and preservation, seed marketing and certification, and opportunities in the seed business. Beyond technical training, the project placed emphasis on team building, communication skills, and decision-making abilities to strengthen the organizational capacity of producer groups.

Indigenous knowledge on adaptation to climate change is recognized as highly relevant and valuable for climate change adaptation (Berrang-Ford et al. 2021; Latulippe and Klenk 2020, Shaffril et al. 2020; Gyampoh et al. 2011). Strategies employed in low-income countries to bring indigenous knowledge and communities to the forefront of climate change action include community-based approaches to forest management, forest governance (FAO and FILAC 2021), forest enterprises (Humphries et al. 2012), mobilizing of forest and farm producer organizations (Covey et al. 2021), supporting land rights acquisition (Bray and Duran 2022; Mowat and Veit 2019), and conducting farmer field schools (Wulandari and Inoue 2018; Matsvange, Sagonda and Kaundikiza 2016). For instance, in the Peruvian Amazon, the Saweto Dedicated Grant Mechanism (DGM) under the Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities Project provided legal protection and recognition of native communities, land tenure security, financial support, and capacity building for increased income generation and food security in native communities through sustainable forest management. Sixteen women-led initiatives under DGM focused on formalizing indigenous women's cooperatives and associations, increasing productivity and promoting sustainable practices in community businesses by investing in improved facilities and equipment, training, and market access (Barletti, Begert and Loza 2021; World Bank 2021). Saweto DGM is implemented through the National Steering Committee, which brings together Amazonian Indigenous organizations. After five years of work, stakeholders celebrated the secured possession of more than 256,000 hectares of forest that belongs to 58 Indigenous communities and 10,000 families (WWF 2021).

Youth also serve as agricultural extension providers in many countries. The Philippine Rice Research Institute, in collaboration with the technical vocational unit of the Department of Education and the CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), started a campaign for mobilizing high school students as "infomediaries", providing information to their parents and other farmers in their communities on climate-smart rice production techniques (CCAFS 2016). The campaign had a three-component strategy called "Read, Surf and Text." Students were given printed reading material on climate-smart rice production, then provided with electricity and internet access so that they could consult the Pinoy Rice Knowledge Bank, an online information portal on rice. Under the "Text" component, the students were introduced to the PhilRice Text Centre, an SMS facility that responds to questions on rice production. The campaign worked with around 200 high schools and evidence suggests that technology adoption has grown through infomediaries (Philippine Rice Research Institute 2016; Manalo et al. 2016).

4. Functions Performed by EAS to Promote Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation: Evidence from Diverse Cases

To further analyze the role of EAS and the diverse functions they perform to support climate change adaptation and mitigation, we selected four cases that provide specific details on the role of EAS in supporting adaptation and mitigation. These cases were selected based on:

- The availability of information to make a detailed analysis on functions performed by EAS to support climate change adaptation (Cases 1 and 2) and climate change mitigation (Cases 3 and 4);
- Geographic focus, to cover Asia (1 case), Africa (2 cases), and Latin America (1 case)

4.1 CASE 1: CLIMATE INFORMATION SERVICES IN RWANDA

Sources: CCAFS 2020; Gumucio et al. 2020a; Clarkson et al. 2020; Gumucio et al. 2020b

Context

Building climate information systems is a priority for Rwanda, as highlighted in the country's Nationally Determined Contributions. Two internationally funded projects supported the provision of climate information services to farmers in Rwanda: the first project was the four-year USAID-funded CGIAR/CCAFS initiative entitled Rwanda Climate Services for Agriculture, launched in 2016. The initiative was designed to empower Rwandan farmers to manage climate risks with the goal of increasing resilience to climate change by building the capacity of national systems in order to generate and provide climate services to farmers and extension staff across the country. The second project was the Weather and Climate Information Services for Africa (WISER) program, initiated in 2018 and funded by the UK's Department for International Development and managed by the UK's Met Office and Rwanda's national meteorological service. WISER aimed to enhance and scale up the co-production of climate services for improved climate risk management and to deliver an impact-based early warning system. The complementary efforts by these two initiatives built an effective climate information service in Rwanda. For instance, while the Rwanda Climate Services for Agriculture project delivered climate services to farmers, the WISER project developed mechanisms to bring farmers' feedback back to the service providers and promoted the use of climate services by local government for agricultural planning.

Interventions

 Working with *Twigire Muhinzi*, the government's agricultural extension service, farmers across the country's 30 districts were trained and supported to access, understand, and incorporate climate information into their production planning. Trainings were also conducted for local district agricultural officers.

- Radio listener clubs were piloted to increase climate service broadcasts and introduce interactive call-in programs that allowed farmers to talk about their plans to act on climate information.
- In addition to improved future climate analytics, Meteo Rwanda was supported to reconstruct about 15 years of lost climate data and generate historical records for every 4 km across Rwanda.
- An advanced online tool, Maprooms, was developed based on localized climate information data on a national scale. Maprooms has been adopted by the national meteorological services of Ethiopia, Senegal, Bangladesh, Colombia, and Guatemala as well as by the IGAD Climate Prediction and Applications Centre, the regional climate center for East Africa.
- The project supported the development of climate risk assessments and adaptation plans for six priority agricultural commodity value chains.
- An ICT-based five question (5Q) monitoring tool was introduced to efficiently and continuously capture feedback on the services farmers received. Around 100,000 farmers were trained to use the 5Q tool and provide regular feedback.
- MSc scholarships for seven Meteo Rwanda staff and three from the Rwanda Agricultural Board have improved the capacity of these national institutions.
- By August 2018, CCAFS partners had trained 1,612 public EAS personnel and volunteer promoters who provide training and support to farmers.

EAS Functions Performed

- Training farmers on using climate information in their planning.
- Training volunteer promoters, who in turn provide training and support to farmers on using climate information in their planning.
- Organizing radio listener clubs to enhance use of climate service broadcasts.

4.2 CASE 2: PROMOTING *IN SITU* CONSERVATION OF INDIGENOUS RICE VARIETIES THAT CAN WITHSTAND CLIMATE CHANGE IN INDIA

Sources: Ciarli et al. 2022; Sulaiman and Mittal 2021

Context

Many traditional seed varieties are climate-resilient, require fewer inputs, and are valuable sources of genetic diversity. Competing with high-yielding, modern varieties, these traditional varieties are under threat of extinction in many places. However, farmers in a few pockets across the globe continue to cultivate landraces adapted to local ecosystems characterized by environmental and climatic variations. In India, tribal communities in Koraput district have generated and conserved many indigenous cultivars of rice that are suitable for both dryland and wetland cultivation. Many tribal communities cultivate traditional varieties because of their food habits and taste preferences. Most of these farmers either do not prefer or do not have the capacity to buy modern crop varieties. The cultivation of landraces that are resilient to changing

climate in their natural habitat (*in-situ* conservation) allows the evolutionary process that shaped their genetic diversity and adaptability to continue and develop. In the current context of climate change, there is a wider recognition of the need for conserving biodiversity *in situ* and several NGOs are coming forward to promote conservation and cultivation of indigenous varieties and develop value chains. Moreover, landraces are grown without chemical inputs and irrigation, so their cultivation helps to reduce methane and nitrous oxide emissions that are produced during intensive, high-input rice farming.

Interventions

- Pragati, a local NGO, collected different rice landraces from farmers for multiplication through trials in farmers' fields. Pragati provided seeds to farmers and collected the seed after harvest for distribution to more farmers.
- Pragati facilitated community grain banks with the objective of conserving local seeds to improve resilience against extreme weather and facilitate easy and timely accessibility of seeds by farmers. Pragati provided storage bins and gunny bags to store seeds and encouraged the use of traditional conservation in bamboo baskets.
- Pragati supported seed banks managed by village committees and farmer producer groups formed by communities at broader community level.
- Pragati organized seed fairs and sent farmers it worked with to participate in seed fairs across the country. The seed fairs enabled the exchange of seeds between farmers from different locations and facilitated interactions between farmers, NGOs, officials from state seed corporations, public sector agencies, scientists and researchers, and other stakeholders. Seed exchanges help in building relationships between farmers from different communities and regions. It also serves as a platform for farmers to share their knowledge and experience with different seed varieties.
- Pragati identified and documented 456 traditional rice varieties, some that are resistant to
 pests and diseases and can withstand climatic stress.

EAS Functions Performed

- Collecting and documenting indigenous rice varieties.
- Distributing indigenous varieties among farmers for on-farm trial and then collecting the seeds for onward distribution.
- Organizing community grain banks and seed banks.
- Providing storage bins for storing seeds.
- Organizing seed fairs and funding travel of farmers to participate in fairs organized by other farmers.

4.3 CASE 3: CARBON SEQUESTRATION THROUGH SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE LAND MANAGEMENT IN KENYA

Sources: Hughes et al. 2020; Nyberg et al. 2020; Butali and Wekesa 2018; Shames et al. 2016; Recha et al. 2014

Context

The Kenya Agriculture Carbon Project (KACP) was initiated by the World Bank in 2008 to promote the adoption of Sustainable Agriculture Land Management (SALM) among 60,000 smallholders spread over 45,000 hectares in western Kenya. In 2009, Swedish NGO Vi Agroforestry took over as the main implementer of KACP and, in November 2010, KACP became the first project on the African continent to sell carbon credits generated, in part, from soil sequestration. The SALM methodology received approval from the Verified Carbon Standard⁵ in December 2011, and in January 2014, the project issued its first carbon credits under the Verified Carbon Standard certification system for a reduction of 24,788 metric tons of carbon dioxide. Vi Agroforestry takes a comprehensive approach to project implementation, focusing not only on carbon, but also on improving farm productivity and livelihoods.

Interventions

- Vi Agroforestry staff performed most of the monitoring and management tasks for the carbon project, including collecting, analyzing, reporting carbon monitoring data, and liaising with carbon buyers. To reach a large number of farmers, the staff relied on community-based intermediaries (CBIs), who are predominantly farmers and leaders of local community-based organizations, to train and recruit other farmers into the project.
- To help enhance the role of CBIs in training and recruitment of farmers, Vi Agroforestry staff worked with We Effect, a development cooperation organization, to develop a training manual and a set of posters that focused on the implementation of SALM practices. These materials were then used by the Vi Agroforestry staff when they were training CBIs and then subsequently by the CBIs when they were training farmers.
- Vi Agroforestry established six field-based learning sites throughout the project area where the CBIs could hold training and demonstration activities and distributed the training materials to each of the learning sites for the CBIs to use.
- Vi Agroforestry worked through community-based organizations, primarily producer groups, women's groups, and self-help groups who undertook activities such as collecting the monitoring data from individual farmers, receiving, and managing the carbon bonus payments, and liaising with external organizations.
- To increase the participation and role of women, Vi Agroforestry staff instructed and supported the CBIs to identify, recruit, and train 1-2 women's groups, involved women in the planning of training sessions and recruited women as CBIs.
- To increase the role of the local government and other partners in the project, Vi Agroforestry organized a two-day training workshop on SALM practices, a two-day policy forum to discuss increasing policy support for these practices, and two county-wide field days to help link farmers to potential partners around the county. Following the training from Vi Agroforestry, the 30 CBIs went on to train 1492 male and 2686 female farmers.
- Vi Agroforestry held a high-level meeting with county policymakers and drafted a policy memo outlining how policymakers could support the scaling-up of SALM practices.

⁵The Verified Carbon Standard Program is the world's most widely used greenhouse gas (GHG) crediting program.

EAS Functions Performed

- Collecting, analyzing, reporting carbon monitoring data.
- Liaising with carbon buyers.
- Training CBIs, who in turn organize training and demonstrations.
- Developing a training manual and a set of posters.
- Identifying field-based learning sites.
- Distributing training materials.
- Organizing training workshops for local government actors.
- Organizing a policy forum to discuss increasing policy support for these practices.

4.4 CASE 4: PASTURE RESTORATION THROUGH ABC CERRADO PROGRAM IN BRAZIL

Sources: Souza et al. 2022; Brazilian Farmers 2018

Context

Brazil is one of the world's largest cattle producers. Restoration of pastures that are used intensively for beef and dairy production can alter greenhouse gas emissions by changing both the intensity and aggregate amount of direct emissions from production systems. Pasture degradation is primarily due to inadequate management practices – for example, elevated levels of soil compaction and disease – resulting in significant productivity loss. Pasture restoration entails a set of techniques for proper soil management and fodder plant cultivation, following specific criteria for each area. Adopting such practices reduces the need to clear new areas for pasture, thus reducing the pressure for deforestation while increasing cattle productivity.

With this objective in mind, a major government initiative was launched to reduce emissions in Brazilian agriculture, including ambitious targets for pasture restoration called the Low-Carbon Agriculture Plan (ABC Plan), developed for the 2011 to 2020 decade, and ABC+ Plan for the 2021 to 2030 decade. One of the projects implemented during this period was ABC Cerrado, a rural extension project implemented by the National Service of Rural Learning (Serviço Nacional de Aprendizagem Rural or SENAR). The project trained and provided technical assistance to rural producers on sustainable management techniques, focusing on the restoration of degraded pastures.

Interventions

- The ABC Cerrado program promoted the adoption of sustainable agricultural practices by rural producers through a combination of training and technical assistance. Since its creation, the ABC Cerrado program has trained 7,800 producers and offered technical assistance to 2,000 of these producers.
- The ABC Cerrado Project provided two types of extension programs: training and technical assistance. Producers only received field technical assistance after first participating in the training. The impact of combining training with technical assistance has been positive and significant. Producers who were targeted by the combined intervention restored more pasture areas, were more likely to adopt good rural management and environmental

conservation practices, invested more in inputs and machinery, and achieved greater productivity gains. Training consisted of 56 hours of courses taught by instructors trained by SENAR. The program's technical assistance component consisted of 24 visits (one visit per month) from field technicians to the farmers' property, where they received a customized action plan to implement new practices. SENAR also conducted seminars to increase awareness about pasture restoration.

EAS Functions Performed

- Training on sustainable pasture management for farmers.
- Training of field technicians.
- Field visits to provide customized technical assistance to farmers.
- Conducting seminars for awareness creation.

4.5. LESSONS

The four select cases discussed offer the following lessons on how EAS is supporting climate adaptation and mitigation:

- EAS providers perform a wide range of functions to help farmers apply new information and technologies that help them to deal with climate change. Beyond disseminating information, training farmers, and providing customized problem-solving advisory services at the field-level, they train a wide range of other knowledge intermediaries who work alongside farmers in applying the new knowledge.
- EAS providers mobilize farmers as groups to access inputs and services, for example community seed and grain banks, radio listener clubs.
- EAS providers are also engaged in the production and use of a wide range of information, communication, and educational tools to support farmers to adopt new practices.
- EAS providers organize platforms to engage with other actors, such as policy forums to garner policy support, community seed banks to store and exchange seeds of climate resilient seeds, and field-based learning sites.
- In all cases, EAS providers are part of a broader stakeholder network, are involved in regular exchange with other actors and are implementing their interventions in collaboration with others.
- The case studies and the broader EAS literature suggest that at present, public sector extension tends to be relatively more involved with adaptation activities, while private sector providers focus more on mitigation activities. This does not however mean that one type of provider is better suited to undertake certain climate actions. Limited involvement by government supported extension in climate change mitigation is largely due to their lack of capacity and resources, a situation that can be addressed through training and investment in the sector. Many agribusinesses have started investing in EAS and supporting climate change adaptation to climate-proof the value chains they are engaged with and to comply with sustainability commitments and green market pressures.

5. Discussion: Strengthening the Contribution of EAS to Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

EAS are critical to scaling climate change adaptation and mitigation interventions and supporting smallholder farmers to respond to changing conditions. While EAS currently play several functions in promoting climate resilience, there remains significant areas for improvement, particularly in most low- and middle-income countries where EAS from the public and private sector are not aligned with climate change needs in a planned or systematic manner. The following section discusses what can be done to strengthen EAS in support of climate change adaptation and mitigation and to align EAS more closely with broader climate change strategies and policies.

As discussed earlier, this evidence review utilized the Innovation Management Framework to understand and analyze how climate change adaptation and mitigation efforts are currently designed and implemented. This framework recognizes the importance of collaboration among multiple actors as well as the need to perform a broad range of functions to facilitate innovation. The examples and cases presented in <u>Sections 3</u> and <u>4</u> clearly illustrate the important roles EAS play and the functions they perform in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation (Figure 3, 4).







Figure 4: Functions performed by EAS to promote climate adaptation and mitigation.

EAS representing public sector agencies, private firms, international and local NGOs, and civil society organizations have all been a part of climate change adaptation and mitigation initiatives. While public sector EAS providers play a very important role in areas that are primarily focused on adaptation - promoting stress tolerant rice varieties and alternative farming practices, delivering climate advisory services, and promoting equitable and inclusive climate action - their contribution to promoting climate-resilient value chains and other areas focused on mitigation - promoting agroforestry, resource efficient technologies, and market-based mitigation mechanisms - are limited.

Private EAS providers and specialized NGOs are leading the promotion of climate-resilient value chain development, resource efficient technologies, and market-based mitigation mechanisms. While public EAS providers could play a very important role in this area, particularly in promoting these approaches within larger areas, their technical capacities are currently limited. Mobilization of rural producers as groups and collaborative action among pluralistic EAS providers and other agricultural innovation system actors are common in all the examples and cases presented in this evidence review. Agricultural research centers also play a role in providing extension and advisory services by, for example, developing and testing technologies on-farm and disseminating improved technologies and practices to farmers on a limited scale and training public sector extension staff on new innovations.

However, more action is required to enhance the current roles and functions EAS providers and their organizations play in promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation. These are discussed in detail below.

5.1 GREATER EMPHASIS ON MOBILIZING COMMUNITIES

While many recognize the importance of mobilizing farmers into groups for natural resource management, the cases examined reveal the importance of mobilizing farmers to promote behavior change that encourages uptake of even simple innovations such as stress tolerant rice varieties and solar irrigation. The same is the case if farmers are to benefit from climate-resilient value chains, carbon trading or other forms of payment-for-ecosystems-services. Beyond mobilization, farmers' capacity to manage collective action groups, engage with buyers, and support scheme implementation must also be enhanced.

Because public EAS providers often lack the capacity to effectively mobilize farmers, partnering with farmer groups, producer organizations and NGOs has been key. However, capacities for collective action have to be developed among public EAS, particularly because public providers have a wide coverage at country level, whereas NGOs and private sector providers tend to operate only in specific locations.

5.2 STRENGTHEN CAPACITIES FOR MULTISTAKEHOLDER COORDINATION

Coordinated action among multiple organizations within the agricultural sector, more broadly across the agricultural innovation system or from different sectors, facilitates adoption of climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies at scale. To promote new innovations and approaches and generally facilitate interactions between diverse actors, government line ministries, research organizations, private sector actors and civil society organizations are often involved in platforms such as stakeholder forums, committees or learning fora. State agencies often play a crucial role in providing legal protection and rights to communities in, for example,

forest management and seed certification, as well as adaptive research support and training for farmers and community resource persons. Partnerships between organizations with different expertise are critical for scaling up carbon farming and payment-for-ecosystem-services.

In some countries, EAS plays a role in coordinating multiple stakeholders to address climate challenges. However, this is an area where systems, institutional frameworks, and individual capacities need strengthening by enhancing coordination and collaboration among the pluralistic EAS providers at national and sub-national levels. Strengthening the linkages of EAS with other actors in the agricultural innovation system is another area that requires improvements. Having structures for coordinated functioning such as country-level EAS provider networks, policy working groups, or innovation platforms could encourage joint action for climate change adaptation and mitigation.

5.3 NEW ROLES, FUNCTIONS, AND IMPROVED TECHNICAL AND FUNCTIONAL CAPACITIES

In order to better contribute to addressing the complexities of climate change, EAS will have to take on additional roles and play different functions. These include involvement in disaster management and disaster prevention operations, searching for technological solutions from historical experiences and identifying lessons from other regions, tracking and verifying the effectiveness of climate action, and advocating for climate responsive interventions. These and other new roles and functions will require upgrading the technical and functional capacities of EAS providers.

EAS providers are currently asked to promote different climate-responsive approaches such as nature-based solutions, conservation agriculture, permaculture, biodynamic farming, regenerative agriculture, climate-smart agriculture, and natural farming without a deep understanding of their function or impacts. Similarly, many EAS personnel have an insufficient understanding of the mechanisms that incentivize carbon sequestration or how to promote resource efficient technologies. In addition to technical knowledge, EAS providers need improved capacities on identifying and addressing the needs of women, youth and other marginalized groups, determining what types of adaptive changes farmers need to make and when to make them, and ensuring that relevant technologies and modes of dissemination keep up with changing needs (Simpson and Burpee 2014). EAS providers also need training on disaster management and disaster prevention, and skills on how to find new technological solutions and training on introducing farmers to simple monitoring systems (Babu and Selvaraju 2023). In most countries, university-level and professional extension education curricula need to be upgraded to cover climate change as well as functional skills. Curricula reform could draw on existing technical manuals on climate change for EAS providers such as the modules developed by the Centre for Research on Innovation and Science Policy and International Rice Research Institute (IRRI and CRISP 2020) and a training manual by FAO on climate smart agriculture (FAO 2018). Digital tools and approaches for providing advisory services, including artificial intelligence, is an emerging area that requires investments by providers and developing staff competencies to use these innovations.

Beyond technical knowledge, EAS providers also need functional capacities to successfully deliver the technical knowledge to farmers and facilitate multi-stakeholder processes that are critical for promoting climate adaptation and mitigation. EAS providers should be able to build the decisionmaking and problem-solving capacity of farmers and have the necessary "soft" skills to facilitate interactions between different stakeholders - communications, facilitation, co-learning, sensitivity to gender and diversity issues, managing power, and conflict dynamics.

5.4 STRENGTHENING THE ENABLING ENVIRONMENT

In order to successfully play current and future roles and functions related to climate change mitigation and adaption, EAS and systems need a supportive enabling environment that recognizes and strengthens EAS' contributions for promoting climate resilience. In the context of EAS, the enabling environment includes policies, institutional arrangements, stakeholder involvement, infrastructure, and access to knowledge and support from a wide range of organizations that are critical for effective functioning. In other words, effective pluralistic extension and advisory systems require political financial, organizational, institutional, and infrastructural support to perform varied roles and functions in support of climate change adaptation and mitigation. This calls for countries to have clarity on the roles of EAS in their agricultural development strategy and for this role to be explicitly mentioned in national climate adaptation and mitigation plans. However, presently, many low and middle-income countries do not have an extension policy and EAS are scarcely mentioned in agricultural policy documents. This ultimately limits the involvement of EAS in climate action. For example, the Department of Agricultural Extension in Bangladesh only started promoting floating gardens after its inclusion in the 2009 National Adaptation Program for Action.

EAS also needs policy support from other sectors too. Promoting climate adaptation and mitigation measures over entire landscapes requires coordination with other agricultural sectors (natural resource management, forestry), as well as related sectors such as energy, water, finance, and insurance. For instance, policies related to data sharing and management associated with weather, crop status, production, farmer profiles, etc., are critical for EAS to develop climate adaptation and mitigation plans and respond better to natural disasters (Dominic, et al. 2022).

5.5 INCREASED FINANCIAL AND HUMAN RESOURCES SUPPORT FOR EAS

Under-funding and an unwillingness to increase investments for public EAS systems remains a persistent constraint in most low-income countries, particularly in Africa and Central Asia, resulting in limited funds for expenses related to training, fuel for travel, technical materials, and other resources (Davis, Babu and Ragasa 2020, McNamara 2014). However, farmers need to be supported to experiment with and adapt climate-smart approaches to suit their specific farm conditions. This calls for increased investments and human resources within both public and private EAS organizations.

While donor funding attempts to fill the gap caused by poorly resourced public EAS, sustainability is an important challenge for externally funded projects. The private sector is increasingly active in integrated supply chains for export and high-value commodities but usually not for domestically consumed or low-value crops and commodities. Although agriculture was the most highly

financed sector, accounting for 39% of the climate-related financial flows directed to

agrifood systems in 2021 (Galbiati et al. 2023), smallholder farmers in low-income countries receive only 0.3% of total international climate finance (Climate Focus 2023). The proportion of climate funds invested in EAS is not currently known. Opportunities to increase investment and human resources as well as utilize climate finance to strengthen EAS need to be further explored.

6. Conclusion and Recommendations

Although EAS have become more pluralistic around the world, public provided EAS dominate provisioning for smallholder farmers in most countries. Public EAS are often primarily involved in the distribution of technologies and inputs as part of project implementation and generally have little operational funding to organize capacity development programs to enhance farmers' knowledge or the knowledge of their staff on climate change adaptation and mitigation. Partnerships with NGOs and specialized knowledge providers are limited except in the case of donor-funded projects and, that too, is limited to projects' duration. While a review of literature shows that EAS are contributing to climate change adaptation and mitigation, the evidence shows that EAS' roles and functions need to be urgently strengthened. Key recommendations emerging from this review include:

Include a climate focus in the goals of EAS: EAS often do not include climate change in their mission and often lack an explicit climate focus. Explicit climate objectives are needed to draw attention to climate change adaptation and mitigation at both organizational- and individuallevels and to ensure that EAS providers and systems are fully accountable to achieving specific climate adaptation and mitigation targets. Climate actions should be integrated in extension strategies, workplans, and budget.

Build the evidence on the contributions of EAS to climate actions: There is a dearth of data documenting and quantifying the specific contributions made by EAS to climate change adaptation and mitigation. To support an increased climate focus, there is a need to generate a more robust evidence-base on the contributions of EAS to climate change adaptation and mitigation, including agricultural practices that enhance climate resilience.

Explore new roles and functions for EAS: To be able to effectively address the climate crisis, EAS in most countries need to undergo reforms to shift away from a technology transfer paradigm to a more demand-led approach that emphasizes co-creation with producers, use of effective communications, and dissemination tools as well as develop effective mechanisms to coordinate multiple actors. continue to meet needs in a changing climate. Other new roles required to meet needs in a changing climate include: involvement in disaster management and disaster prevention operations, searching for technological solutions that can generate good agricultural practices from historical experiences and lessons from other regions that are already affected by adverse climatic conditions, tracking and verifying the effectiveness of climate action and advocating for climate responsive interventions.

Strengthen technical and functional capacities of EAS: EAS providers from public, private and civil society organizations need upgraded technical and functional capacities in different approaches to managing climate change (e.g. climate smart agriculture, agro-ecology, regenerative agriculture), in facilitating farmer experimentation and responding to the needs of women, youth, and other marginalized farmers, as well as in soft skills such as facilitation and brokerage. Additionally, EAS providers will need skills to improve coordination among stakeholders from multiple agencies and sectors related to climate, such as forestry, energy, water and biodiversity. To strengthen these capacities, extension education curricula at all levels need to be updated and climate-related issues included.

Increase sustainable funding for EAS: Promoting climate change adaptation and mitigation requires more direct engagements with farmers and their organizations, providing capacity building to address climate challenges and resources for investing in new advisory approaches. Both public and private EAS providers need finances to hire more local-level staff and to cover the operational expenses associated with organizing farmer training and demonstrations, adopting new innovative, including digital, approaches, and providing tools and training for their staff.

Create extension policies that emphasize the role of EAS for climate action: Extension policies should explicitly outline the role of EAS in a country's development strategy broadly and their role in national climate adaptation and mitigation plans. Many low- and middle-income countries do not have a national extension policy, and EAS is only briefly mentioned in agricultural policy documents. Extension policies are critical for defining the role of different EAS providers in a pluralistic EAS system, improving coordination among advisory services and streamlining service provision across related sectors such as environment, forestry and energy.

Recognize the contribution of EAS in national climate strategies and plans: In most countries, ministries of environment are in charge of the country's Nationally Determined Contributions and National Adaptation Plan implementation, while ministries of agriculture implement adaptation and mitigation strategies related to the agricultural sector. These strategies and plans generally do not mention the contributions of EAS in supporting climate change adaptation and mitigation and primarily focus on targets rather than on implementation. Explicit recognition of the contribution of EAS in achieving climate resilience and positioning these services as important actors that can support upscaling climate adaptation and mitigation technologies and strategies is critical for ensuring that EAS receive policy and financial support.

Direct climate funds to agriculture and EAS: To strengthen the resilience of the global agriculture sector to climate change, the sector needs more investments from multilateral and bilateral agencies, the private sector, and philanthropic organizations. Climate initiatives in agriculture should explicitly fund public and private EAS to strengthen their abilities to contribute to adaptation and mitigation. Policies that incentivize private investments in EAS and promote public-private partnerships among EAS are also likely to boost funding for the sector.

Glossary

Adaptation: actions that help reduce vulnerability to current or expected impacts of climate change, such as weather extremes and natural disasters, sea level rise, biodiversity loss, or food and water insecurity.

Agricultural Innovation: process whereby individuals or organizations bring new or existing products, processes, or ways of organization into use for the first time in a specific context in order to increase effectiveness, competitiveness, resilience to shocks or environmental sustainability, and thereby contribute to food security and nutrition, economic development, or sustainable natural resource management.

Agriculture Innovation System: a network of actors (individuals, organizations, and enterprises), together with supporting institutions and policies in the agricultural and related sectors, that bring existing or new products, processes, and forms of organization into social and economic use. Policies and institutions (formal and informal) shape how these actors interact and learn together, and how they generate, share, and use knowledge.

Agroecology: a holistic and integrated approach that simultaneously applies ecological and social concepts and principles to the design and management of sustainable agriculture and food systems. It seeks to optimize the interactions between plants, animals, humans, and the environment while also addressing the need for socially equitable food systems within which people can exercise choice over what they eat and how and where it is produced.

Agroforestry: a collective name for land-use systems and technologies where woody perennials (trees, shrubs, palms, bamboos, etc.) are deliberately used on the same land management units as agricultural crops and/or animals, in some form of spatial arrangement or temporal sequence.

Biodynamic Agriculture: in biodynamic agriculture, the farm is considered an autonomous and living organism that interacts with the environment to build healthy and living soil in order to produce healthy and nutritious foods.

Carbon Markets: trading schemes that create financial incentives for activities that reduce or remove greenhouse gas emissions. In these schemes, emissions are quantified into carbon credits that can be bought and sold. One tradable carbon credit equals one ton of carbon dioxide, or the equivalent amount of a different greenhouse gas that is reduced, sequestered or avoided.

Carbon Farming: a set of agricultural methods that aim to store carbon in the soil, crop roots, wood, and leaves.

Climate Resilient Agriculture: integrates adaptation, mitigation, and other practices in agriculture which increase the capacity of the system to respond to various climate-related disturbances by resisting damage and recovering quickly. In short, it is the ability of the system to bounce back. It essentially involves judicious and improved management of natural resources, i.e., land, water, soil, and genetic resources through the adoption of best-bet practices.

Climate Smart Agriculture: an approach to help people who manage agricultural systems to respond effectively to climate change. Pursues the triple objectives of sustainably increasing productivity and incomes, adapting to climate change, and reducing greenhouse gas emissions, where possible.

Climate Smart Agriculture and Food Systems: an integrative approach that helps guide actions to transform agriculture and food systems which explicitly aims for three objectives: (1) sustainably increasing agricultural productivity to support equitable increases in farm incomes,

food security, and development; (2) adapting and building resilience of agricultural and food systems to climate change at multiple levels; and (3) mitigating climate change by increasing carbon sequestration or reducing GHG emissions associated with agriculture (including crops, livestock, fisheries, and aquaculture), either in absolute terms or by reducing emission intensity in the context of low emission development. Broadening this approach to agriculture and food systems means expanding the lens past producers to examine these three objectives throughout the functions, capacities, and inputs of the agriculture and food systems. This includes the people, behavior, relationships, and resources involved in the production, storage, processing, and distribution of crops (e.g., food, feed, and fiber), livestock, forestry (e.g., timber and non-timber), and wild-caught fisheries and aquaculture.

Conservation Agriculture: a farming system that can prevent loss of arable land while regenerating degraded land. It promotes the maintenance of a permanent soil cover, minimum soil disturbance, and diversification of plant species. It enhances biodiversity and natural biological processes, both above and below the ground surface, which contribute to increased water and nutrient use efficiency, and to improved and sustained crop production.

Food Systems: the entire range of actors and their interlinked value-adding activities in the production, aggregation, processing, distribution, consumption, and disposal of food products that originate from agriculture, forestry, fisheries, and parts of the broader economic, societal and natural environments in which they are embedded.

Mitigation: any action taken by governments, businesses, or people to reduce or prevent greenhouse gas emissions, or to enhance carbon sinks that remove these gases from the atmosphere.

Natural Farming: a farming approach that emphasizes the importance of co-production of crops and animals so that synergistic effects of different parts of the system can be used, relying on easily available ingredients to produce crop treatments on-farm, and microbes or mycorrhizae to build soil fertility.

Nature-based solutions: actions taken to protect, conserve, restore, sustainably use and manage natural or modified terrestrial, freshwater, coastal and marine ecosystems to address social, economic and environmental challenges effectively and adaptively, while simultaneously providing human well-being, ecosystem services, resilience and biodiversity benefits.

Organic Agriculture: a production system that sustains the health of soils, ecosystems, and people. It relies on ecological processes, biodiversity and cycles adapted to local conditions rather than the use of inputs with adverse effects. Organic agriculture combines tradition, innovation, and science to benefit the shared environment and promote fair relationships and a good quality of life for all involved.

Payment for Ecosystem Services: policies that compensate individuals or communities for undertaking actions that increase the provision of ecosystem services such as water purification, flood mitigation, or carbon sequestration. It relies on incentives to induce behavior change and can thus be considered part of the broader class of incentive- or market-based mechanisms for environmental policy.

Permaculture: the conscious design and maintenance of agriculturally productive ecosystems which have the diversity, stability, and resilience of natural ecosystems. It is the harmonious integration of landscape and people, providing their food, energy, shelter, and other material and non-material needs in a sustainable way.

Precision Agriculture: the application of modern information technologies to provide, process, and analyze multi-source data of high spatial and temporal resolution for decision making and operations in the management of crop production.

Regenerative Agriculture: farming and grazing practices that, among other benefits, reverses climate change impact by rebuilding soil organic matter and restoring degraded soil's biodiversity, resulting in both carbon drawdown and improving the water cycle.

Resilience: the ability of people, households, communities, countries, and systems (social, economic, ecological) to mitigate, adapt to, and recover from shocks and stresses in a manner that reduces chronic vulnerability, and facilitates inclusive growth.

References

- Abdulai, Abdul-Nafeo, and Awudu Abdulai. "Examining the Impact of Conservation Agriculture on Environmental Efficiency among Maize Farmers in Zambia." *Environment and Development Economics* 21, no. 2 (2016): 177-201.
- Abebe, Gedefaw, and Sisay Debebe. "Factors affecting use of organic fertilizer among smallholder farmers in Sekela district of Amhara region, Northwestern Ethiopia." *Cogent Food & Agriculture* 5, no. 1 (2019): 1669398.
- Acosta, Mariola, Osana Bonilla Findji, Anton Eitzinger, Diksha Arora, Deissy Martínez Barón, Gustavo Bejarano, and Jose Gabriel Suchini. *Examining Gender Differences in the Access to and Implementation of Climate-Smart Agricultural Practices in Central America*. CCAFS Info Note. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), 2019.
- Akano O, Modirwa S, Oluwasemire K, Oladele O." Awareness and perception of climate change by smallholder farmers in two agroecological zones of Oyo state Southwest Nigeria." *GeoJournal*, 2022.
- Akter, Sonia, Timothy J. Krupnik, Frederick Rossi, and Fahmida Khanam. "The Influence of Gender and Product Design on Farmers' Preferences for Weather-Indexed Crop Insurance." *Global Environmental Change* 38 (2016): 217-229.
- Alvar-Beltrán, Jorge, Ilyasse Elbaroudi, Arianna Gialletti, Ana Heureux, Lev Neretin, and Riccardo Soldan. *Climate Resilient Practices: Typology and Guiding Material for Climate Risk Screening*. Rome: FAO, 2021.
- Andati, Patrick, Eucabeth Majiwa, Marther Ngigi, Robert Mbeche, and Josiah Ateka. "Determinants of Adoption of Climate Smart Agricultural Technologies among Potato Farmers in Kenya: Does Entrepreneurial Orientation Play a Role?" *Sustainable Technology and Entrepreneurship* 1, no. 2 (2022): 100017.
- Andersson, Lotta, Julie Wilk, L. Phil Graham, Jacob Wikner, Suzan Mokwatlo, and Brilliant Petja. "Local early warning systems for drought–Could they add value to nationally disseminated seasonal climate forecasts?" *Weather and Climate Extremes* 28 (2020): 100241.
- Antwi-Agyei, Philip, Andrew J. Dougill, and Lindsay C. Stringer. "Barriers to Climate Change Adaptation: Evidence from Northeast Ghana in the Context of a Systematic Literature Review." *Climate and Development* 7, no. 4 (2014): 297-309.
- Aryal, Jeetendra Prakash, M. L. Jat, Tek B. Sapkota, Arun Khatri-Chhetri, Menale Kassie, Dil Bahadur Rahut, and Sofina Maharjan. "Adoption of Multiple Climate-Smart Agricultural Practices in the Gangetic Plains of Bihar, India." *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management* 10, no. 3 (2018): 407-427.
- Asian Institute of Technology (AIT). *Regional Review and Planning Workshop 2017 Sustaining and Enhancing the Momentum for Innovation and Learning around the System of Rice Intensification (SRI) in the Lower Mekong River Basin.* Concept Note. Plant Protection Department, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, Vietnam, 2017.
- Autio, Antti, Tino Johansson, Lilian Motaroki, Paolo Minoia, and Petri Pellikka. "Constraints for Adopting Climate-Smart Agricultural Practices among Smallholder Farmers in Southeast Kenya." *Agricultural Systems* 194 (2021): 103284.
- Awiti, Alex. Climate change and gender in Africa: A review of impact and gender responsive solutions. Frontiers in Climate, 2022.
- Babu, Suresh C., and Ramasamy Selvaraju. "Implementing a Just Transition to Net Zero: Driving Climate Action through Extension System Reforms." International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), 2023. https://www.ifpri.org/blog/implementing-just-transition-net-zero-driving-climate-action-through-extensionsystem-reforms/.
- Baig, Mirza B., Paul J. Burgess, and John H. Fike. "Agroforestry for Healthy Ecosystems: Constraints, Improvement Strategies and Extension in Pakistan." *Agroforestry Systems* 95 (2021): 995-1013.
- Bairagi, Subir, Ashok Mishra, and Alvaro Durand-Morat. "Climate Risk Management Strategies and Food Security: Evidence from Cambodian Rice Farmers." *Food Policy* 95 (2020): 101935.

- Baptista, Piya, and Beth Jenkins. "TechnoServe's East Africa coffee initiative: an example of system leadership in practice." *Harvard Kennedy School, Cambridge, MA, US* 32 (2017).
- Barbier, E. B., and J. P. Hochard. "The Impacts of Climate on the Poor in Disadvantaged Regions." *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy* 12, no. 1 (2018): 26-47.
- Barletti, Juan Pablo Sarmiento, Blanca Begert, and Miguel Angel Guerra Loza. "Is the formalization of collective tenure rights supporting sustainable indigenous livelihoods? Insights from Comunidades Nativas in the Peruvian Amazon." *International Journal of the Commons* 15, no. 1 (2021): 381-394.
- Berrang-Ford, Lea, A. R. Siders, Alexandra Lesnikowski, Alexandra Paige Fischer, Max W. Callaghan, Neal R. Haddaway, Katharine J. Mach et al. "A systematic global stocktake of evidence on human adaptation to climate change." *Nature climate change* 11, no. 11 (2021): 989-1000.
- Binado, T.K. Farmer-Led Agroecology Extension Services: The Female Extension Volunteer Programme, 2018.
- Birch, Julia, Peter Weston, Tony Rinaudo, and Rob Francis. "Releasing the underground forest: case studies and preconditions for human movements that restore land with the farmer-managed natural regeneration (FMNR) method." In *Land Restoration*, pp. 183-207. Academic Press, 2016.
- Biswas-Tortajada, Andrea, and Asit K. Biswas. Sustainability in coffee production: creating shared value chains in Colombia. Routledge, 2015: 103-127.
- Blum, Magdalena, Francesca Cofini, and Rasheed Sulaiman. *Agricultural Extension in Transition Worldwide: Policies and Strategies for Reform*. Rome: FAO, 2020.
- Brasser, A. *Reducing Risk: Landscape Approaches to Sustainable Sourcing*. Olam International and Rainforest Alliance Case Study. Washington, DC, 2013.
- Bray, David Barton, and Elvira Durán. "Mexican community forestry as a global model for biodiversity conservation and climate change adaptation and mitigation." In *Routledge Handbook of Community Forestry*, pp. 493-506. Routledge, 2022.
- Brazilian Framers. "A closer look at four of SENAR's Flagship training programmes." 2018. Accessed January 24, 2024. https://brazilianfarmers.com/news/made-in-brazil/a-closer-look-at-four-of-senars-flagship-trainingprogrammes/
- Buah, Samuel Saaka, Anslem B. Nyuor, and Ibrahim Hashim. *Survey Report on: Climate Adaptation Initiatives and Financing in Rural Communities in Lawra and Yatenga Districts under the West African Dialogue on Private Climate Financing*. Commissioned by IBIS Ghana. Savanna Agricultural Research Institute of the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR-SARI), 2017.
- Bullock, Renee, Sophia Huyer, Tokelo Shai, and Mary Nyasimi. *The CCAFS Youth and Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) Strategy*. CCAFS Working Paper no. 332. Wageningen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), 2020.
- Butali, Celina, and Amos Wekesa. *Building farmer organisations' capacity to collectively adopt agroforestry and sustainable agriculture land management practices in Lake Victoria Basin*. No. GLF Brief no. 9. Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Bogor, Indonesia, 2018.
- Campbell, Bruce. Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation Options in the Agrifood System: A Summary of the Recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Sixth Assessment Report. Rome: FAO, 2022.
- Carr, Edward R., and Sheila N. Onzere. "Really Effective (for 15% of the Men): Lessons in Understanding and Addressing User Needs in Climate Services from Mali." *Climate Risk Management* (2018): 82-95.
- CCAFS. "Strengthening the Capacity of Agriculture in Rwanda to Adapt to a Variable and Changing Climate." 2020. https://ccafs.cgiar.org/news/strengthening-capacity-agriculture-rwanda-adapt-variable-and-changingclimate.
- CCAFS. "Youth and teachers embrace climate-smart agriculture in the Philippines in Annual report 2016: Power of partnerships." Wageningen, The Netherlands, 2016.
- Chompolola, Abson, and Oliver Kaonga. "Adoption of Conservation Agriculture in Zambia The Case of Chongwe District." *Journal of Sustainable Development* 9, no. 3 (2016): 77-81.

Christoplos, Ian. Mobilizing the Potential of Rural and Agricultural Extension. Rome: FAO, 2010.

- Clarkson, Graham, Peter Dorward, Gloriose Nsengiyumva, and Desire Kagabo. "Participatory Integrated Climate Services for Agriculture (PICSA) as part of Rwanda Climate Services for Agriculture: Findings from quantitative evaluation of 2016/17 PICSA implementation." *CCAFS Working Paper* (2020).
- Ciarli, Tommaso, Alaa AlDoh, Saurabh Arora, Valeria Arza, Julian Asinsten, Jacob Assa, Joanna Chataway et al. "Changing Directions: Steering science, technology and innovation towards the Sustainable Development Goals." (2022).
- CIMMYT. "Maize Farmers and Seed Businesses Changing with the Times in Malawi." May 15, 2012. Accessed January 24, 2024. https://www.cimmyt.org/news/maize-farmers-and-seed-businesses-changing-with-the-times-in-malawi/.
- CLEAR Center. "What Is Carbon Sequestration and How Does It Work?" September 20, 2019. Accessed January 24, 2024. https://clear.ucdavis.edu/explainers/what-carbon-sequestration.
- Climate Focus. "Untapped Potential An analysis of international public climate finance flows to sustainable agriculture and family farmers." Accessed January 24, 2024. https://www.ruralforum.org/wpcontent/ uploads/2023/11/GSCC_Family_Farmers_ENG-1.pdf
- Covey, Jack, Duncan Macqueen, Anna Bolin, and Xiaoting Hou Jones. "Co-producing knowledge: A demand-led, prosperity-focused, research agenda with forest and farm producer organisations." *Environmental Science & Policy* 124 (2021): 336-347.
- Crippa, M., E. Solazzo, D. Guizzardi, F. Monforti-Ferrario, and A. Leip. "Food Systems Are Responsible for a Third of Global Anthropogenic GHG Emissions." *Nature Food* 2, no. 3 (2021): 198-209.
- Dar, Manzoor H., Dilruba A. Bano, Showkat A. Waza, Najam W. Zaidi, Asma Majid, Asif B. Shikari, M. Ashraf Ahangar, Mosharaf Hossain, Arvind Kumar, and Uma S. Singh. "Abiotic Stress Tolerance—Progress and Pathways of Sustainable Rice Production." *Sustainability* 13, no. 4 (2021): 2078.
- David, Soniia. "Climate smart agriculture: What role for rural advisory services?" in Supporting Agricultural Extension Towards Climate Smart Agriculture: An Overview of Existing Tools. Edited by Simone Sala, Frederico Rossi, and Soniia David. Global Alliance for Climate Smart Agriculture (GACSA), Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, (2016): 6-12.
- Davis, Kristin E., Suresh Chandra Babu, and Catherine Ragasa. *Agricultural Extension: Global Status and Performance in Selected Countries*. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), 2020.
- de Janvry, Alain, Karen Macours, and Elisabeth Sadoulet. *Learning for Adopting: Technology Adoption in Developing Country Agriculture*. Policy Brief. Fondation pour les Études et Recherches sur le Développement International (Ferdi), 2016.
- Dekens, Julie, and Angie Daze. *How Small Businesses Can Support Climate-Resilient Value Chains: Lessons from Uganda*. October 25, 2016a.
- Dekens, Julie, and Angie Daze. *Policy Solutions for Climate-Resilient Agricultural Value Chains*. March 2, 2016b. Accessed January 24, 2024. https://www.iisd.org/articles/insight/policy-solutions-climate-resilient-agriculturalvaluechains.
- Dibon, Melanie. *The Contribution of Rural Youth to Climate Issues in Agriculture and Their Engagement in Climate Policy*. Doctoral Dissertation, National University of Ireland Galway, 2021.
- Diouf, Ndeye Seynabou, Issa Ouedraogo, Robert B. Zougmore, Mathieu Ouedraogo, Samuel Tetteh Partey, and Tatiana Gumucio. "Factors Influencing Gendered Access to Climate Information Services for Farming in Senegal." *Gender, Technology and Development* 23, no. 2 (2019): 93-110.
- Diro, Samuel, Agajie Tesfaye, and Beza Erko. "Determinants of Adoption of Climate-Smart Agricultural Technologies and Practices in the Coffee-Based Farming System of Ethiopia." *Agriculture & Food Security* 11, no. 1 (2022): 1-14.
- Dominic, Ditty Maria, Nimisha Mittal, Rasheed Sulaiman V, Preeti Bharti, and Sheetal Sharma. "Enhancing Capacities of Digital Extension and Advisory Services in Odisha, India." *Policy Brief* (2022).

- Dossou-Yovo, Elliott, Samuel Guindob, Mahamoudou Sidibec, Salif Doumbia, Ba Affoussata Diarra, and Blaise Tchetan. "Enhanced Access to Climate-Smart Agriculture and Climate Information Services by Farmers in Mali." (2022).
- Drugmand, Dana, Steven Feit, Lili Fuhr, and Carroll Muffet. *Fossils, Fertilizers, and False Solutions: How Laundering Fossil Fuels in Agrochemicals Puts the Climate and the Planet at Risk*. Washington, D.C.: Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL), 2022.
- Duru, Jemima, Joseph Aro, and Rachael Ebunoluwa Oladipo. "The Effects of Climate Change on the Livelihood of Rural Women: A Case Study of Ilorin South, Nigeria." *Bulletin of the National Research Centre* 46, no. 1 (2022): 165.
- Elahi, Ehsan, Zainab Khalid, and Zhixin Zhang. "Understanding Farmers' Intention and Willingness to Install Renewable Energy Technology: A Solution to Reduce the Environmental Emissions of Agriculture." *Applied Energy* 309 (2022): 118459.
- El-Fattal, L. "Climate-Smart Agriculture Is 'Smarter' When Informed by a Gender Perspective." WOCAN Policy Brief. Women Organizing for Change in Agriculture and Natural Resource Management, Bangkok, Thailand (2012).
- Emmanuel, Donkor, Enoch Owusu-Sekyere, Victor Owusu, and Henry Jordaan. "Impact of Agricultural Extension Service on Adoption of Chemical Fertilizer: Implications for Rice Productivity and Development in Ghana." *NJAS: Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences* 79, no. 1 (2016): 41-49.
- Enriquez, Yuji, Sudhir Yadav, Gio Evangelista, Donald Villanueva, Mary Ann Ellarda Burac, and Valerien Pede.
 "Disentangling Challenges to Scaling Alternate Wetting and Drying Technology for Rice Cultivation: Distilling Lessons From 20 Years of Experience in the Philippines." *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 5 (2021): 675818.
- FAO. Climate-smart Agriculture Training Manual: A Reference Manual for Agricultural Extension Agents. Rome, 2018. https://www.fao.org/3/ca2189en/CA2189EN.pdf.
- FAO. "Making Extension and Advisory Services Work for Youth." Brief. Rome: FAO, 2022.
- FAO and FILAC "Forest governance by indigenous and tribal peoples: An opportunity for climate action in Latin America and the Caribbean." (2021).
- Fisher, Monica, Stein T. Holden, Christian Thierfelder, and Samzon P. Katengeza. "Awareness and Adoption of Conservation Agriculture in Malawi: What Difference Can Farmer-to-Farmer Extension Make?" *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability* 16, no. 3 (2018): 310-325.
- Fisher, Monica, Tsedeke Abate, Rodney W. Lunduka, Woinishet Asnake, Yoseph Alemayehu, and Ruth B. Madulu. "Drought Tolerant Maize for Farmer Adaptation to Drought in Sub-Saharan Africa: Determinants of Adoption in Eastern and Southern Africa." *Climate Change* 133, no. 2 (2015): 283-299.
- Galbiati, G. M., M. Yoshida, N. Benni, and M. Bernoux. "Climate-related development finance to agrifood systems." 2023.
- Gannon, Kate Elizabeth, Florence Crick, Joanes Atela, and Declan Conway. "What Role for Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships in Adaptation to Climate Change? Experiences from Private Sector Adaptation in Kenya." *Climate Risk Management* 32 (2021): 100319.
- Georgieva, Kristalina, Vitor Gaspar, and Ceyla Pazarbasioglu. "Poor and Vulnerable Countries Need Support to Adapt to Climate Change." *IMF Blog.* March 23, 2022. https://www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2022/03/23/blog032322poor-and-vulnerable-countries-need-support-to-adapt-to-climate-change.
- Glover, Dominic, James Sumberg, Giel Ton, Jens Andersson, and Lone Badstue. "Rethinking Technological Change in Smallholder Agriculture." *Outlook on Agriculture* 48, no. 3 (2019): 169-180.
- Glover, Dominic, Jean-Philippe Venot, and Harro Maat. "On the movement of agricultural technologies: Packaging, unpacking and situated reconfiguration." In *Agronomy for Development*, 14-30. Routledge, 2017.
- Gómez César, M. "Towards an agroecological framework for the evaluation of community seed banks: a case study of nepal." PhD diss., MSc thesis Farming Systems Ecology. Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen. Available: http://himalayancrops.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/GomezCesar_Thesis_Final_Revised.pdf.
- Gopalakrishnan, Tarun, and Kapil Subramanian. "Agrometeorological advisory Services in India: an assessment." *Centre for Science and Environment, New Delhi* (2020): 60.

- Government of India, Ministry of Agriculture & Farmers Welfare. "Promotion of Natural Farming." *Press Information Bureau, Delhi*. March 14, 2023. https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1906884.
- Government of Zimbabwe & United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). *Zimbabwe Human Development Report* 2017: Climate Change and Livelihoods. UNDP, 2017.
- Gumucio, Tatiana, James Hansen, Sophia Huyer, and Tiff Van Huysen. "Gender-responsive rural climate services: a review of the literature." *Climate and Development* 12, no. 3 (2020a): 241-254.
- Gumucio, Tatiana, James Hansen, Gloriose Nsengiyumva, Eliud Abucheli Birachi, Desire Kagabo, Alison Rose, and Yvonne Munyangeri. "Rwanda Climate Services for Agriculture: Qualitative Evaluation through a Gender Lens." *CCAFS Working Paper* (2020b).
- Gyampoh, Benjamin A., Winston A. Asante, D. J. La Rose, G. Adu-Acheampong, T. Assimeng, and A. G. Opoku. "Mapping and documenting indigenous knowledge in climate change adaptation in Ghana." *Africa Adaptation Programme Rep* (2011): 1-141.
- Haggblade, Steven, and Gelson Tembo. "Development, Diffusion, and Impact of Conservation Farming in Zambia." (2003).
- Haile, Kaleab K., Nyasha Tirivayi, and Wondimagegn Tesfaye. "Farmers' Willingness to Accept Payments for Ecosystem Services on Agricultural Land: The Case of Climate-Smart Agroforestry in Ethiopia." *Ecosystem Services* 39 (2019): 100964.
- Hall, Andy, and Jeroen Dijkman. *Public Agricultural Research in an Era of Transformation: The Challenge of Agri-Food System Innovation*. Study. Rome and Canberra: CGIAR Independent Science and Partnership Council (ISPC) Secretariat and Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), 2019.
- Haworth, Billy Tusker, Eloise Biggs, John Duncan, Nathan Wales, Bryan Boruff, and Eleanor Bruce. "Geographic Information and Communication Technologies for Supporting Smallholder Agriculture and Climate Resilience." *Climate* 6, no. 4 (2018): 97.
- Hughes, Karl, Seth Morgan, Katherine Baylis, Judith Oduol, Emilie Smith-Dumont, Tor-Gunnar Vågen, and Hilda Kegode. "Assessing the downstream socioeconomic impacts of agroforestry in Kenya." *World Development* 128 (2020): 104835.
- Humphries, Shoana, Thomas P. Holmes, Karen Kainer, Carlos Gabriel Gonçalves Koury, Edson Cruz, and Rosana de Miranda Rocha. "Are community-based forest enterprises in the tropics financially viable? Case studies from the Brazilian Amazon." *Ecological Economics* 77 (2012): 62-73.
- IDH (The Sustainable Trade Initiative). The Business Case for Engaging in Landscape Approaches: The Business case for a Landscape Approach to Sustainable Cocoa Production in Ghana, 2018.
- IITA, CCAFS, SFL, Root Capital. *Improving Cocoa Sector Climate Smart Awareness and Decision-Making*. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security, 2018.
- IMD. Standard Operating Procedures for Agromet Advisory Services. India Meteorlogical Department (IMD) Ministry of Earth Sciences New Delhi, 2020.
- IRRI and CRISP. *Training Module on Enabling Extension and Advisory Services (EAS) for Climate Smart Agriculture (CSA)*. Los Banos, Philippines: International Rice Research Institute and Hyderabad, India: Centre for Research on Innovation and Science Policy, 2020. https://www.crispindia.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Module-on-Training-of-Trainers-on-Climate-Smart-Agriculture_Scr-1.pdf.
- IPCC. *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability.* Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2022.
- IPCC. Summary for Policymakers. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2021.

- Irfanullah, Haseeb Md, Md Abul Kalam Azad, Md Kamruzzaman, and Md Ahsanul Wahed. "Floating Gardening in Bangladesh: A Means to Rebuild Lives After Devastating Flood." *Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge* 10, no. 1 (2011): 31–38.
- ISF Advisors. Sustainable and Climate-Smart Advisory Services Landscape: Opportunities and Needs. Zurich: Swiss Re Foundation, 2020. https://isfadvisors.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/06/strategies_for_supporting_ sustainable_and_climate-smart_advisory_services.pdf.
- Jain, Niveta, Rachana Dubey, D. S. Dubey, Jagpal Singh, M. Khanna, H. Pathak, and Arti Bhatia. "Mitigation of Greenhouse Gas Emission with System of Rice Intensification in the Indo-Gangetic Plains." *Paddy and Water Environment* 12, no. 1 (2013): 355–363.
- Jha, Chandan Kumar, and Vijaya Gupta. "Do better agricultural extension and climate information sources enhance adaptive capacity? A micro-level assessment of farm households in rural India." *Ecofeminism and Climate Change* 2, no. 2 (2021): 83-102.
- Kamruzzaman, Md, Katherine Daniell, Ataharul Chowdhury, Steven Crimp, and Helen James. "How Can Agricultural Extension and Rural Advisory Services Support Agricultural Innovation to Adapt to Climate Change in the Agriculture Sector?" *International Journal of Water Resources Development* (2020).
- Kassie, Girma, Olaf Erenstein, Wilfred Mwangi, Peter Setimela, Augustine Langyintuo, and K. K. Kaonga. An Innovation Learning Platform for Drought Tolerant Maize in Malawi: Lessons Learned and the Way Forward. Working Paper
 6. Texcoco, Mexico: CIMMYT, 2012.
- Katz, Elizabeth. Gender and Agricultural Advisory Services. Issue Brief. Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, 2018.
- Khan, Shoukat Alim, Al Ans Rashid, and Muammer Koç. "Adaptive Response for Climate Change Challenges for Small and Vulnerable Coastal Area (SVCA) Countries: Qatar Perspective." *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction* (2023).
- Klerkx, Laurens, Andrew John Hall, and Cees Leeuwis. "Strengthening Agricultural Innovation Capacity: Are Innovation Brokers the Answer?" *International Journal of Agricultural Resources, Governance and Ecology* 8, no. 5-6 (2009): 409-438.
- Klerkx, Laurens, Barbara van Mierlo, and Cees Leeuwis. "Evolution of Systems Approaches to Agricultural Innovation: Concepts, Analysis and Interventions." In *Farming Systems Research into the 21st Century: The New Dynamic* (2012): 457–483.
- Koseo, Enoch A., and Abubakari Ahmed. "Climate Change Adaptation Strategies of Cocoa Farmers in the Wassa East District: Implications for Climate Services in Ghana." *Climate Services* (2022).
- Kroeger, A., Koenig, S., Thomson, A., and Streck, C.. *Forest-and Climate-Smart Cocoa in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana*. World Bank, 2017.
- Kuhl, Laura. "Technology Transfer and Adoption for Smallholder Climate Change Adaptation: Opportunities and Challenges." *Climate and Development* 12, no. 4 (2020): 353–368.
- Kuyah, Shem, Sylvia Buleti, Kangbeni Dimobe, Libere Nkurunziza, Soule Moussa, Catherine Muthuri, and Ingrid Oborn.
 "Farmer-Managed Natural Regeneration in Africa: Evidence for Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation in Drylands." In Agroforestry for Sustainable Intensification of Agriculture in Asia and Africa, 53–88. Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore, 2023.
- Lamboll, Richard, Valerie Nelson, and Nick Nathaniels. *Emerging Approaches for Responding to Climate Change in African Agricultural Advisory Services: Challenges, Opportunities and Recommendations for an AFAAS Climate Change Response Strategy*. Report. Kampala: African Forum for Agricultural Advisory Services (AFAAS), 2011.
- Latulippe, Nicole, and Nicole Klenk. "Making room and moving over: knowledge co-production, Indigenous knowledge sovereignty and the politics of global environmental change decision-making." *Current opinion in environmental sustainability* 42 (2020): 7-14.
- Lawson, Elaine T., Rahinatu Sidiki Alare, Abdul Rauf Zanya Salifu, and Mary Thompson-Hall. "Dealing with Climate Change in Semi-Arid Ghana: Understanding Intersectional Perceptions and Adaptation Strategies of Women Farmers." *GeoJournal* 85, no. 2 (2020): 439–452.

- Loboguerrero, Ana Maria, Francisco Boshell, Gloria León, Deissy Martinez-Baron, Diana Giraldo, Liliana Recaman Mejía, Eliecer Díaz, and James Cock. "Bridging the gap between climate science and farmers in Colombia." *Climate Risk Management* 22 (2018): 67-81.
- Lokuge, Nimanthika, and Sven Anders. "Carbon-credit systems in agriculture: a review of literature." *The School of Public Policy Publications* 15 (2022).
- Maguire-Rajpaul, V. A., Khatun, K., & Hirons, M. A.. "Agricultural information's impact on the adaptive capacity of Ghana's smallholder cocoa farmers." *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, *4*, no. 28, (2020).
- Mahmood, Nasir, Muhammad Arshad, Yasir Mehmood, Muhammad Faisal Shahzad, and Harald Kechele. "Farmers' Perceptions and Role of Institutional Arrangements in Climate Change Adaptation: Insights from Rainfed Pakistan." *Climate Risk Management* 32 (2021): 100288.
- Maka, L., I. D. Ighodaro, and G. P. T. Ngcobo-Ngotho. "Capacity Development for Scaling Up Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) Innovations: Agricultural Extension's Role in Mitigating Climate Change Effects in Gqumashe Community, Eastern Cape, South Africa." South African Journal of Agricultural Extension 47, no.1 (2019): 45-53.
- Malhi, Gurdeep Singh, Manpreet Kaur, and Prashant Kaushik. "Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture and Its Mitigation Strategies: A Review." *Sustainability* 13, no. 3 (2021): 1318.
- Manalo, Jaime A., Katherine P. Balmeo, Jayson C. Berto, and Fredierick M. Saludez. *Youth & Agriculture: The Infomediary Campaign in the Philippines*. Philippine Rice Institute, 2016.
- Mapfumo, Paul, Florence Mtambanengwe, and Regis Chikowo. "Building on Indigenous Knowledge to Strengthen the Capacity of Smallholder Farming Communities to Adapt to Climate Change and Variability in Southern Africa." *Climate and Development* 8, no. 1 (2016): 72–82.
- Mardy, Trisna, Mohammed Nasir Uddin, Asaduzzaman Sarker Md., Debashis Roy, and Emily Shea Dunn. "Assessing Coping Strategies in Response to Drought: A Micro Level Study in the North-West Region of Bangladesh." *Climate* 6, no. 2 (2018): 23.
- Marland, Gregg, Bruce A. McCarl, and Uwe Schneider. "Soil carbon: policy and economics." *Climatic Change* 51, no. 1 (2001): 101-117.
- Martey, Edward, Prince M. Etwire, and John K. M. Kuwornu. "Economic Impacts of Smallholder Farmers' Adoption of Drought- Tolerant Maize Varieties." *Land Use Policy* 94 (2020): 104524.
- Martinez, Charley C., S. Aaron Smith, Tyler Mark, and Paul Goeringer. "Challenges with Developing an Extension Program for Markets Evolving under an Uncertain Framework: Lessons from Program Development for Carbon and Hemp Markets." *Applied Economics Teaching Resources* (AETR) 4, no. 3 (2022): 23-32.
- Martini, E. "Farmers' potentials role in agricultural extension: Agroforestry Farmer Field School Experiences in Sulawesi, Indonesia." In *Poster presented at Global Forum for Rural Advisory Services (GFRAS) 4th Annual Meeting in Berlin, Germany on September*. 2013.
- Matsvange, Diego, Ruvimbo Sagonda, and Munyaradzi Kaundikiza. "The role of communities in sustainable land and forest management: The case of Nyanga, Zvimba and Guruve districts of Zimbabwe." *Jamba: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies* 8, no. 3 (2016): 1-11.
- Mazhar, Rabia, Abdul Ghafoor, Bi Xuehao, and Zou Wei. "Fostering Sustainable Agriculture: Do Institutional Factors Impact the Adoption of Multiple Climate-Smart Agricultural Practices among New Entry Organic Farmers in Pakistan?" *Journal of Cleaner Production* 283 (2021): 124620.
- McLeod, Elizabeth, Mae Bruton-Adams, Johannes Forster, Chiara Franco, Graham Gaines, Berna Gorong, Robyn James, Gabriel Posing-Kulwaum, Magdalene Tara, and Elizabeth Terk. "Lessons from the Pacific Islands – Adapting to Climate Change by Supporting Social and Ecological Resilience." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6 (2019): 289.
- Mittal, Nimisha, Sreeram Vishnu, Rasheed V. Sulaiman, and Onima VT. Assessing Institutional Innovations to Promote Women-Led Informal Seed Systems in Eastern India and Nepal. Hyderabad, India: Centre for Research on Innovation and Science Policy (CRISP), 2018.
- Mizik, Tamás. "Climate-Smart Agriculture on Small-Scale Farms: A Systematic Literature Review." *Agronomy* 11, no. 6 (2021): 1096.

- Mowat, Hannah, and Peter Veit. "The IPCC calls for securing community land rights to fight climate change." *World Resources Institute* (2019).
- Mulwa, Chalmers, Paswel Marenya, Dil Bahadur Rahut, and Menale Kassie. "Response to Climate Risks Among Smallholder Farmers in Malawi: A Multivariate Probit Assessment of the Role of Information, Household Demographics, and Farm Characteristics." *Climate Risk Management* 16 (2017): 208–221.
- Musafiri, Collins M., Milka Kiboi, Joseph Macharia, Onesmus K. Ng'etich, David K. Kosgei, Betty Mulianga, Michael Okoti, and Felix K. Ng'etich. "Adoption of Climate-Smart Agricultural Practices Among Smallholder Farmers in Western Kenya: Do Socioeconomic, Institutional, and Biophysical Factors Matter?" *Heliyon* 8, no. 1 (2021).
- Ndhlovu, Emmanuel, and David Mhlanga. "Smart Technologies, Climate Change, and Smallholder Farmer Production in Zimbabwe." In *The Fourth Industrial Revolution in Africa*, 293–309. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland, 2023.
- Nyathi, Putso, and Marie-Aude Even. Lessons Learned from Supporting Pluralistic Extension Services in Asia and Africa. Rome: International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), 2022.
- Nyberg, Ylva, Caroline Musee, Emmanuel Wachiye, Mattias Jonsson, Johanna Wetterlind, and Ingrid Öborn. "Effects of agroforestry and other sustainable practices in the Kenya agricultural carbon project (KACP)." *Land* 9, no. 10 (2020): 389.
- Nyiwul, Linus. "Climate Change Adaptation and Inequality in Africa: Case of Water, Energy and Food Insecurity." *Journal* of Cleaner Production 278 (2021): 123393.
- Nuruzzaman, Afrad Md Safiul Islam, Md Enamul Haque, Ashrafun Nahar, Muhammad Ashraful Habib, Swati Nayak, Saidul Islam, Md Mamunur Rashid, and Amlan Biswas. "Women-led community-based rice seed entrepreneurship model in Bangladesh: Status, challenges and opportunities." *Cogent Food & Agriculture* 9, no. 1 (2023): 2242138.
- OECD. OECD Meeting of Agriculture Ministers 2022, Background Notes, Agriculture and Climate Change. Paris: OECD Publishing, 2022.
- OFI. Cocoa compass-2020/21, Olam Food Ingredients, 2021.
- Ouedraogo, Issa, Ndeye Seynabou Diouf, Mathieu Ouedraogo, Ousmane Ndiaye, and Robert B. Zougmore. "Closing the Gap between Climate Information Producers and Users: Assessment of Needs and Uptake in Senegal." *Climate* 6, no. 1 (2018): 13.
- Owusu, Victor, Wanglin Ma, Alan Renwick, and Dorcas Emuah. "Does the use of climate information contribute to climate change adaptation? Evidence from Ghana." *Climate and Development* 13, no. 7 (2021): 616-629.
- Ozkan, Burhan, Ahmed Kasim Dube, and Michael R. Reed. "Role of Agricultural Extension in Building Climate Resilience of Food Security in Ethiopia." In *Food Security and Climate-Smart Food Systems*, edited by Claudia Ringler, Ananya Mukherji, and Bharat Sharma, 219-239. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2022.
- Palazzo, A., L. Rutting, R. Zougmoré, J. M. Vervoort, P. Havlik, A. Jalloh, E. Aubee, et al. "The Future of Food Security, Environments and Livelihoods in Western Africa. Four Socio-economic Scenarios." *Working Paper* (2016).
- Palis, Florencia G., R. M. Lampayan, R. J. Flor, and E. Sibayan. "A multi-stakeholder partnership for the dissemination of alternate wetting and drying water-saving technology for rice farmers in the Philippines." *AIMS Agriculture & Food* 2, no. 3 (2017).
- Panda, Debabrata, and Sharat Kumar Palita. "Potential of underutilized wild crops in Koraput, Odisha, India for improving nutritional security and promoting climate resilience." (2021). Food 2, no. 3 (2017).
- Partey, Samuel T., Angela D. Dakorah, Robert B. Zougmore, Mathieu Ouedraogo, Mary Nyasimi, Gordon K. Nikoi, and Sophia Huyer. "Gender and Climate Risk Management: Evidence of Climate Information Use in Ghana." *Climatic Change* 158, no. 1 (2020): 61-75.
- Partey, Samuel T., Robert B. Zougmore, Mathieu Ouedraogo, and Bruce M. Campbell. "Developing Climate-Smart Agriculture to Face Climate Variability in West Africa: Challenges and Lessons Learnt." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 187 (2018): 285-295.
- Pattanapant, A., & Shivakoti, G. P. (2009). Opportunities and constraints of organic agriculture in Chiang Mai Province, Thailand. *Asia-Pacific Development Journal*, *16*(1), 115.

- Pearl-Martinez, Rebecca. "Financing Women Farmers: The Need to Increase and Redirect Agriculture and Climate Adaptation Resources." (2017).
- Petrics, Hajnalka, Magdalena Blum, Susan Kaaria, Paola Tamma, and Kelsey Barale. "Enhancing the Potential of Family Farming for Poverty Reduction and Food Security through Gender-sensitive Rural Advisory Services." (2015).
- Pham, Thu Thuy, Bruce M. Campbell, Stephen Garnett, Heather Aslin, and Minh Ha Hoang. "Importance and impacts of intermediary boundary organizations in facilitating payment for environmental services in Vietnam." *Environmental Conservation* 37, no. 1 (2010): 64-72.
- Philippines Rice Research Institute. "2016 Rice R&D Highlights." Development Communications Division, 2016. https://www.philrice.gov.ph/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DevCom-2016.pdf
- Phu, Hoang Van, Ha Xuan Linh, and Le Thu Tra. "Improved Rice Cultivation System (SRI) in Environmental Protection and Climate Change Mitigation - Overview." *TNU Journal of Science and Technology* 226, no. 10 (2021): 22-27.
- Porcuna Ferrer, Anna. "Do community seed banks contribute to socio-ecological resilience? The case of the Sierra de los Cuchumatanes, Guatemala." (2018).
- Puskur, Ranjitha, Mukund Variar, and Deepti Saksena. *Compendium of Technical and Institutional Innovations for Ricebased Cropping Systems in Odisha*. Compendium, Manila: International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), 2021.
- Qiao, Dan, Ningjie Li, Li Cao, Desheng Zhang, Yanan Zheng, and Tao Xu. "How agricultural extension services improve farmers' organic fertilizer use in China? The perspective of neighborhood effect and ecological cognition." *Sustainability* 14, no. 12 (2022): 7166.

Rabobank. Growing the community you serve, Acorn Local Partner Brochure, Rabobank, 2022.

- Raj, Saravanan, and Saisree Garlapati. "Extension and Advisory Services for Climate-Smart Agriculture." In *Global Climate Change: Resilient and Smart Agriculture*, edited by S. K. Gupta and R. K. Singh, 276-299. Cham: Springer, 2020.
- Ranjbar, Zahar, Mohammad Chizari, Hasan Sadighi, and Homayoun Farhadian. "Extension Services and Behavioral Strategies of Farmers to Deal with Risk." *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research* 8, no. 8 (2019): 269-274.
- Recha, John WM, Martha Kapukha, Amos Wekesa, Seth Shames, and Krista Heiner. "Sustainable agriculture land management practices for climate change mitigation: a training guide for smallholder farmers." (2014).
- Reed, James, Jos Barlow, Rachel Carmenta, Josh van Vianen, and Terry Sunderland. "Engaging Multiple Stakeholders to Reconcile Climate, Conservation and Development Objectives in Tropical Landscapes." *Biological Conservation* 238 (2019): 108229.
- Reij, Chris, Gray Tappan, and Melinda Smale. "Re-Greening the Sahel: Farmer-led Innovation in Burkina Faso and Niger." In *Millions Fed: Proven Successes in Agricultural Development*, edited by David J. Speilman and Rajul Pandya-Lorch, 53-58. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), 2009.
- Rejesus, Roderick M., Adrienne M. Martin, and Phrek Gypmantasiri. "Enhancing the impact of natural resource management research: Lessons from a meta-impact assessment of the Irrigated Rice Research Consortium." *Global Food Security* 3, no. 1 (2014): 41-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2013.11.001.
- Rickards, Lauren, Jason Alexandra, Connor Jolley, and Tim Frewer. "Review of agricultural extension." (2018): 20203534970.
- Rinaudo, T., Muller, A., and Morris, M. (2019). Farmer managed Natural Regeneration (FMNR) Manual. *World Vision Australia: Melbourne, Australia*. https://fmnrhub.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/FMNR-Field Manual_DIGITAL_FA.pdf
- Rodrigo and Munasinghe. Carbon trading: Addressing concerns on why, what & how. AESA Network, 2023. https://aesanetwork.org/blog-201-carbon-trading-addressing-concerns-on-why-what-how/
- Roshetko, James M., Dede Rohadi, Aulia Perdana, Gerhard Sabastian, Nunung Nuryartono, Agus A. Pramono, Nurin Widyani et al. "Teak agroforestry systems for livelihood enhancement, industrial timber production, and environmental rehabilitation." *Forests, Trees and Livelihoods* 22, no. 4 (2013): 241-256.

- Saifan, Sobhia, Rida Shibli, I. A. Arffin, Mohd Shurkri Ab Yajid, and Jacquline Tham. "Climate Change and Extension Services' Effects on Farm Level Income in Malaysia: A Time Series Analysis." *AgBioForum* 23, no. 2 (2021): 72-81.
- Sales, Jordi. "These Farmers in Bangladesh are Floating their Crops to Adapt to Climate Change." Global Center on Adaptation, November 13, 2019. https://gca.org/these-farmers-in-bangladesh-are-floating-their-crops-toadapt-to-climate-change/.
- Sardar, Asif, Adiqa K. Kiani, and Yasemin Kuslu. "Does Adoption of Climate-smart Agriculture (CSA) Practices Improve Farmers' Crop Income? Assessing the Determinants and its Impacts in Punjab Province, Pakistan." *Environment, Development, and Sustainability* 23 (2021): 10119-10140.
- Sardar, Sucheta, and Sanghamitra Kanjilal Bhaduri. "An exploratory analysis of the differential climate change impact on women in India." *Materials Today: Proceedings* 60 (2022): 827-833.
- Schlingmann, Anna, Sonia Graham, Petra Benyei, Esteve Corbera, Irene Martinez Sanesteban, Andrea Marelle, Ramin Soleymani-Fard, and Victoria Reyes-García. "Global patterns of adaptation to climate change by Indigenous Peoples and local communities. A systematic review." *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 51 (2021): 55-64.
- Schut, Marc, Cees Leeuwis, and Graham Thiele. "Science of Scaling: Understanding and Guiding the Scaling of Innovation for Societal Outcomes." *Agricultural Systems* 184 (2020): 102908.
- Sen, Le Thi Hoa, Jennifer Bond, Le Thi Hong Phuong, Alexandra Winkel, Uy Cao Tran, and Nam Van Le. "The importance of climate change awareness for the adaptive capacity of ethnic minority farmers in the mountainous areas of Thua Thien Hue province." *Local Environment* 26, no. 2 (2021): 239-251. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2021.1886064.
- Shaffril, Hayrol Azril Mohamed, Nobaya Ahmad, Samsul Farid Samsuddin, Asnarulkhadi Abu Samah, and Mas Ernawati Hamdan. "Systematic literature review on adaptation towards climate change impacts among indigenous people in the Asia Pacific regions." *Journal of cleaner production* 258 (2020): 120595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120595.
- Shames, Seth, Krista Heiner, Martha Kapukha, Lillian Kiguli, Moses Masiga, Pauline Nantongo Kalunda, Annet Ssempala, John Recha, and Amos Wekesa. "Building local institutional capacity to implement agricultural carbon projects: participatory action research with Vi Agroforestry in Kenya and ECOTRUST in Uganda." *Agriculture & Food Security* 5 (2016): 1-15.
- Simpson, Brent M., and C. Gaye Burpee. Adaptation Under the "New Normal" of Climate Change: The Future of Agricultural Extension and Advisory Services. United States Agency for International Development (USAID) project "Modernizing Extension and Advisory Services," 2014.
- Siregar, Prakarma Raja, and Todd A. Crane. "Climate Information and Agricultural Practice in Adaptation to Climate Variability: The Case of Climate Field Schools in Indramayu, Indonesia." *Culture, Agriculture, Food and Environment* 33, no. 2 (2011): 55-69.
- Smith, David, Jonathan Casey, Matthew J. Ryan, Lisa Offord, Alexis Rendell-Dunn, and Rob Reeder. "CABI's 100 years in identifying and combating emerging fungal diseases in response to climate change." *Microbiology Australia* 43, no. 4 (2022): 160-164.
- Smith, Steven, Petrina Rowcroft, Heather Rogers, Thomas Quick, Chris Eves, Chris White, Mark Everard, Laurence Couldrick, and Mark Reed. "Payments for ecosystem services: a best practice guide." (2013).
- Soman. The integrated model of extension developed by Jain irrigation good practices 39. AESA Network, 2020.
- Souza, Priscilia, Wager Faria De Oliveira, Mariana Stussi, and Arthur Braganca. "The Challenges in the Adoption of Sustainable Practices by Small Ranchers. The Case of ABC Cerrado." Climate Policy Initiative, November 29, 2022.
- Stigter, Cornelis Johan. Agrometeorological services: Reaching all farmers with operational information products in new educational commitments. No. 104. World Meteorological Organization, 2011.
- Sulaiman, R., Delgermaa Chuluunbaatar, and Sreeram Vishnu. "Upscaling climate smart agriculture: lessons for extension and advisory services." (2018).

- Sulaiman, Rasheed, and Kristin Davis. "The 'New Extensionist': Roles, Strategies, and Capacities to Strengthen Extension and Advisory Services." In Proceedings of the Global Forum for Rural Advisory Services, Lindau, Switzerland: Global Forum for Rural Advisory Services, 2012.
- Sulaiman, Rasheed, and Nimisha Mittal. "Conserving India's Rice Diversity." Interview by author, September 2021. https://www.aesanetwork.org/conserving-indias-rice-diversity/
- Sulaiman, Rasheed V. "Enabling Advisory Services for Climate-smart Agriculture: Key Elements for Fostering Farmers' Adoption of CSA Practices (2017): 12.
- Sulaiman, Rasheed V., A. Hall, TS Vamsidhar Reddy, and K. Dorai. "Studying Rural Innovation Management: A Framework and Early Findings from RIU in South Asia." (2010).
- Tamba, Y., J. Wafula, C. Magaju, B. St-Jacques, L. Stiem-Bhatia, C. Arias-Navarro, E. Aynekulu, and L. Winowiecki. "A review of the participation of smallholder farmers in land-based carbon payment schemes." (2021).
- Tanti, Purna Chandra, Pradyot Ranjan Jena, Jeetendra Prakash Aryal, and Dil Bahadur Rahut. "Role of Institutional Factors in Climate-Smart Technology Adoption in Agriculture: Evidence from an Eastern Indian State." *Environmental Challenges* 7 (2022): 100416.
- Technoserve Inc. Building a Sustainable and Competitive Cocoa Value Chain in Peru, 2015. https://www.technoserve.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/case-study-building-a-sustainable-andcompetitive-cocoa-value-chain-in-peru.pdf
- The Nudge Institute. Small Farmers Big Opportunities: Understanding Small Holder Farmers, 2022. https://assets.website-files.com/62131cb6f0c7fd0ea30abf4b/6322e1e15038238389198e4a_TASF_Report.pdf
- Weston, Peter, Reaksmey Hong, Carolyn Kabore, and Christian A. Kull. "Farmer-Managed Natural Regeneration Enhances Rural Livelihoods in Dryland West Africa." *Environmental Management* 55, no. 6 (2015): 1402-1417.
- World Bank. Agricultural Innovation Systems: An Investment Sourcebook. The World Bank, 2012.
- World Bank. Recognizing Indigenous Peoples' Leadership in Climate Action: Land Security and Sustainable Forest Management in the Peruvian Amazon. Results Brief, 2021.

World Economic Forum. "Scaling Up Climate Action through Value Chain Mobilization." Cologny/Geneva, 2016.

- Wulandari, Christine, and Makoto Inoue. "The Importance of social learning for the development of community based forest management in Indonesia: The case of community forestry in Lampung Province." *Small-scale Forestry* 17, no. 3 (2018): 361-376.
- WWF. "'DGM Saweto': The Indigenous People's Battle for the Leadership of Their Own Destiny." WWF, September 15, 2021. https://www.wwf.org.ec/?369811%2FDGM-Saweto-The-Indigenous-Peoples-battle-for-the-leadershipof-their-own-destiny.
- Yang, Puyun, and Yapeng Ou. Transforming Public Agricultural Extension and Advisory Service Systems in Smallholder Farming: Status Quo, Gaps, Way Forward. Rome: FAO, 2022.
- Zakaria, Abraham, Shaibu Baanni Azumah, Mark Appiah-Twumasi, and Gilbert Dagunga. "Adoption of Climate-smart Agricultural Practices Among Farm Households in Ghana: The Role of Farmer Participation in Training Programmes." *Technology in Society* 63 (2020): 101338.
- Zhou, Yuan, and Suresh Babu. *Knowledge Driven Development: Private Extension and Global Lessons*. Academic Press, 2015.
- Zikhali, Zafezeka Mbali, Paramu L. Mafongoya, Maxwell Mudhara, Obert Jiri, and Blessing Mudaniso. "Extension Agents' Perception on Suitability of Climate Change Information Disseminated to Smallholder Farmers." *Journal of Asian and African Studies* 56, no. 8 (2021): 2052-2070.